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FLGHLAND HOSPITALITY CORPORATION [S ASELF-ADVISED LODGING REAL ESTATE
INVESTMENT TRUST, OR REIT, WITH A WELL DIVERSIFIED PORTFOLIO OF UPSCALE FULL-
SZRVYICE AND PREMIUM LIMITED-SERVICE HOTELS THAT ARE WELL POSITIONED WITH
STRONG LOCATICNS, BRANDS AND OPERATORS TO BENEFIT FROM [MPROVING INDUSTRY
FUNDAMENTALS AND OUR ASSET MANAGEMENT AND REPOSITIONING eFFORTS.

WE SAID WE WOULD PRUDENTLY
LEVERAGE THE COMPANY

WE SAID WE WOULD DEVELOP
RELATIONSHIPS WITH LEADING
HOTEL OPERATORS




We have acquired 18 hotels with more than 5,000
rooms with committed capital of over $670 million.
The hotels are in line with our strategic objectives, well

diversified and poised for future growth.

We have raised or assumed over $390 million of debt
capacity through a combination of fixed and floating
rate debt while meeting our leverage targets and

beating our coverage and interest rate targets.

Our current portfolio of 18 hotels consists of
46% Marriott brands, 21% Hilton brands and
14% Hyatt brands.

We have five strong hotel operators managing our
hotel portfolio: Crestline Hotels & Resorts, Marriott
International, Hyatt Corporation, McKibbon Hotel

Management and Sage Hospitality Resources.
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James L. Francis (left), President & Chief Executive Officer
Bruce D. Wardinski, Chairman of the Board

Dear Fellow Shareholders:

Itis our sincere pleasure to have you as shareholders in Highland
Hospitality Corporation. The year 2004 was a busy and productive
year for our company and we can be proud of our many accomplish-
ments. It remains an exciting time to be investing in the lodging
business and we continue to believe that your investment in Highland
Hospitality will be greatly rewarded as (1) our industry continues to
produce exceptional growth in revenue and profits, (2) we add value
to our existing portfolio through our asset management and reposi-
tioning efforts, and (3) we find new opportunities to continue our strong
growth. We are excited as we enter 2005 and remain focused on

increasing shareholder value.

With our successful initial public offering behind us, we began 2004
with the objective of building a high-quality hotel portfolio that would
benefit from improving industry fundamentals and our hands-on asset

management efforts. Since inception, we have acquired 18 hotels totaling

iy J,LLWE\,S,

over 5000 rooms for a total of more than $670 million in committed
capital. Qur portfolio is consistent with our strategy and establishes a
strong foundation for continued growth. More than 75% of our portfolio
consists of full-service hotels with an average of more than 300 rooms
per hotel. We have focused on premier brand names with 46% of our
hotel rooms Marriott branded, 21% Hilton branded and 14% Hyatt
branded. We have a diverse and effective group of operators as well, led
by our preferred manager, Crestline Hotels & Resorts. Additionally, we
have established strong relationships with brand managers such as
Marriott International and Hyatt Corporation, as well as highly respected
third party managers, such as McKibbon Hotel Management and Sage
Hospitality Resources. During the calendar year 2004, we successiully
closed on 12 hotels consisting of 3,623 rooms for approximately $442
million of consideration. The 12 hotels are the Hilton Tampa Westshore,
Hilton Garden inn BW! Airport, Dallas/Fort Worth Airport Marriott,
Courtyard Savannah Historic District, Residence Inn Tampa Downtown,
Courtyard Boston Tremont, Hyatt Regency Wind Watch Long lsland,
Hilton Parsippany, Crowne Plaza Atlanta-Ravinia, Radisson Mount

Laurel, Omaha Marriott and the Courtyard Denver Airport.

Another priority for our company in 2004 was to take advantage of
the availability of debt financing and historically low interest rates to
optimize our capital structure.  After raising approximately $400
million in gross proceeds from the IPO and private offerings, we
leveraged our equity capital wisely by utilizing the favorable conditions
in the debt market. By the end of 2004 our leverage ratio was below
50%. We raised and assumed approximately $293 million of fixed
rate mortgage debt with average maturities of approximately seven

years and an average interest rate of approximately 6.5%. In addition

“wenaverutineiace A HIGH-QUALITY HOTEL PORTFOLIC

THAT IS POISED FOR SIGNIFICANT GROWTH IN THE YEARS AHEAD.

2 HIGHLAND HOSPITALITY




to this fixed rate debt, we added a LIBOR-based $100 million term
loan facility, of which we had drawn $50 million by year end 2004
Assuming the term loan facility is fully drawn, our capital structure will
be comprised of approximately 75% fixed rate debt and approximately
25% floating rate debt. We believe this capital structure will benetit our

company for many years to come.

With the success of our 2004 acquisition and financing activities,
we now turn our focus on the future growth of our company.
Repositioning our portfolic in 2005 is our highest priority, as these
efforts will drive our internal growth in the near future, We currently
have approximately 60% of our portfolio under renovation or ramping
up to stabilization. As we enter 2005, we are underway with, or wil
be beginning shortly, major renovations in seven of our hotels. Once
fully renovated, these hotels will be well positioned to compete with

the other leading hotels in their respective markets.

Qur industry has never been healthier. Overall, industry-wide RevPAR,
or revenue per available room, grew at a rate of 7.5% in 2004, which
is the strongest RevPAR gain since 1984, Current forecasts call for
similar performance in 2005 and 2006. It is expected that 2005
will be a record year for profitability with the return of the business
traveler and with the ability to increase average daily rates. We con-
tinue to believe that we are in the early-to-mid stages of a very posi-
tive lodging cycle. Demand for hotel rooms continues to outpace
new rooms supply and is forecasted to grow by approximately 4 0%
over the next two years. Supply growth is predicted to grow between
15% - 20% over the next two years and is well below the historical

averages for our industry.

We remain committed that further investment is warranted in this

compelling industry environment and we will pursue prudent external
growth with the continuing strategic objectives of acquiring high-guality
hotel assets in the upscale full-service, premium limited-service or extended
stay segments of our industry. We will continue to search for hotel
investments that are market leaders with solid initial yields, or that have
the potential of becoming market leaders through renovating, re-brand-
ing and repositioning efforts. Our hotels will carry the best brands,
will be well located in primary and secondary urban, airport, conven-

tion and resort markets and will be managed by premier operators.

We continue to be very optimistic about the prospects for our company.
We have put in place a high-quality hotel portfolio that is poised for
significant growth in the years ahead. We have built a capital structure
that provides access for additional capital. We remain committed to
finding new hotel investments that will add to our existing portfolio
and drive additional value for our shareholders. We thank you for

your support and look forward to a successful 2005,

20 wio/

Bruce D. Wardinski
Chairman of the Board

015

James L. Francis

President & Chief Executive Officer
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We have focused on developing a portfolio that is diversi-
fied across brand, product type, location and operator.
Through this diversification, our portfolio and our relation-
ships are well aligned with our strategy and establish a
strong foundation for continued growth. We will continue
to invest in assets that reinforce this diversity and thereby

provide consistent returns to our shareholders.

To further diversify our portfolio, we continue to pursue
hotel assets outside of the United States. By focusing our

investment efforts in Mexico and the Caribbean, we will

expand our range of product types, locations and brands,
and strengthen our relationship with Barcels, our preferred
international resort operator. We believe Barcelé's unique
all-inclusive operating model works efficiently in high
quality resort locations, driving strong revenue growth,
profitability and owner returns. Our pursuit of interna-

tional investments will aid us in achieving our growth

targets and further distinguish us from our peers.
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We believe we are in the early-to-mid stages of a strong

recovery and the industry as a whole will produce strong
top-line growth and profits and reward investors with solid

returns on investment.

RevPAR, or revenue per available room, increased by
7.5% in 2004, its highest increase since 1984. Forecasts
for 2005 and 2006 call for a continuation of the strong
RevPAR growth, as favorable industry fundamentals are

expected to continue.

Demand for hotel rooms will continue to grow, fueled by

the strong economic climate, favorable demographic

trends and the return of business travel to historical levels.
Supply growth remains low relative to historical averages
and is predicted to remain at these low levels for the next
few years. With demand growth outpacing supply growth,
industry occupancy will continue to move higher and

position our industry for additional pricing power.
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PORTFOLIO IN TRANSITION ’
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RAMPINC
RENOVATION/REPOSITONING

Renovating and repasitioning our portfolio in 2005 is our highest priority,
as these efforts will drive our internal growth. Currently, approximately
60% of our portfolio is either under renovation or ramping up to stabi-

lization. Once these projects are complete, our improved assets will be

well positioned to compete with the other leading hotels in their respec-

tive markets.

As we enter 2005, we are underway with, or will be beginning shortly,

major renovations in seven of our hotels, including the following projects:

PLAZA SAN ANTONIO MARRIOTT " Renovation

HYATT REGENCY SAVANNAH Renovation

CROWNE PLAZA ATLANTA-RAVINIA  Renovation

HILTON PARSIPPANY " Renovation

HYATT REGENCY WIND WATCH Renovation & Rebranding

COURTYARD BOSTON TREMONT Renovation & Rebranding

RADISSON MOUNT LAUREL ‘ Renovation & Rebranding
i— These rebranding and repositioning efforts exemplify our intense asset

management focus, which we will continually pursue to ensure that our

hotels remain positioned as market leaders and continue to drive

strong returns for our shareholders.

8 HIGHLAND HOSPITALITY




HIGHLAND HOSPITALITY CORPORATION

OUR BUSINESS

OVERVIEW

Highland Hospitality Corporation is a self-advised real estate investment trust
("REIT") that was incorporated in Maryland in July 2003 to own upscale full-service,
premium limited-service, and extended stay properties located in major convention,
business, resort and airport markets in the United States and all-inclusive resort
properties in certain beachfront destinations outside of the United States. We
commenced operations on December 19, 2003 when we completed our initial
public offering ("IPO") and concurrently consummated the acquisition of three

hotel properties.

The IPQ, including the exercise of the underwriters’ over-allotment option, consist-
ed of the sale of 34500000 shares of common stock, resulting in net proceeds
of approximately $3189 million. Concurrent with the IPO, we sold in private place-
ment transactions an aggregate of 4,550,000 shares of common stock, resulting
in proceeds of approximately $42.3 miflion. The total net proceeds generated from
the IPO, the exercise of the underwriters’ over-allotment option, and the private

placement transactions, were approximately $361.2 million.

Substantially all of our assets are held by, and all of cur operations are conducted
through, Highland Hospitality, L.P, our operating partnership (the "Operating
Partnership"). In order for us to qualify as a REIT, neither our company nor the
Operating Partnership can operate hotels directly. Therefore, the Operating
Partnership, which is owned approximately 38% by us and approximately 2% by
other limited partners, leases its hotels to subsidiaries of HHC TRS Holding
Corporation {collectively, "HHC TRS"), which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Operating Partnership. HHC TRS then engages hotel management companies to
operate the hotels pursuant to management contracts. HHC TRS is treated as a

taxable REIT subsidiary for federal income tax purposes.

ACQUISITION OF HOTEL PROPERTIES SINCE INCEPTION

On December 19, 2003, concurrent with the completion of the IPO, we acquired
100% of the equity interests in Portsmouth Hotel Associates, LLC, A/H-BCC
Virginia Beach Hotel, LLC, and Sugar Land Hotel Associates, LP. Barcels
Crestline Corporation ("Barceld Crestline”), which was the sponsor of our

formation and PO, owned equity interests in the three entities.

Portsmouth Hotel Associates, LLC, which is considered our predecessor for
accounting purposes, leases the 249-room Portsmouth Renaissance hotel and

adjcining conference center located in Portsmouth, Virginia from the Industrial

Development Authority of the City of Portsmouth, pursuant to two separate lease
agreements, each for an initial term of 50 years ending May 2049, Portsmouth
Hotel Associates, LLC was acquired for approximately $13 million, which included
the repayment of a mortgage loan which encumbered the hotel property of
approximately $119 million and the issuance of 529,635 Operating Partrership

units valued at approximately $11 million,

A/H-BCC Virginia Beach Hotel, LLC owned the 176-room Hilton Garden Inn
Virginia Beach Town Center hotel located in Virginia Beach, Virginia. A/H-BCC
\/'rrgirlwia Beach Hotel, LLC was acquired for approximately $20 million, which
included the repayment of a construction loan which encumbered the hotel prop-
erty of approximately $17.5 million and the issuance of 285,376 Operating
Partrership units valued at approximately $2.5 million. In addition, we have agreed
to pay the third-party member additional purchase consideration in the form of
Operating Partnership units if the Hitton Garden Inn Virginia Beach Town Center
hotel exceeds certain agreed-upon operating results during the second 12-month

period or third 12-month pericd following the opening date of the hotel.

Sugar Land Hotel Asscciates, LP. owned the 300-room Sugar Land Marrictt
hotel and leased the adjoining conference center and parking facility located in
Sugar Land, Texas from the Sugar Land Development Authority, pursuant to a
lease agreement for a term of 99 years ending October 2102, Sugar Land Hotel
Associates, LP. was acquired for approximately $32.6 million, which included the
repayment of a construction loan which encumbered the hotel property and a
mezzanine loan in an aggregate amount of approximately $29.7 million, and the
issuance of 152,200 Operating Partnership units valued at approximately $0.3 mil-
lion. In addition, we have agreed to pay Barceld Crestline up to $1.8 million in the
form of Operating Partnership units as additional purchase consideration if the
Sugar Land Marriott hotel exceeds certain agreed-upon operating results over the

36-month period following our acquisition of the hotel.

Since the IPO and the acquisition of the initial three hotel properties on December
19, 2003, we have acquired 15 hotel properties, consisting of 4,418 rooms, for an
aggregate purchase price of approximately $542 million, including the assumption
of mortgage debt of approximately $28.3 million. The hotel acquisitions were fund-
ed with proceeds from the IPC, along with proceeds from the issuance of long-

term debt during 2004,

WWW HIGHLANDHOSPITALITY.COM 9



_HIGHLAND HOSPITALITY CORPORATION
OUR BUSINESS

As of March 4, 2005, we owned the following 18 hotel properties:

Property Number of Rooms Location Acquired
FULL SERVICE;
Portsmouth Renaissance and Conterence Center 249 Portsmouth, VA December 19, 2003
Sugar Land Marriott and Conference Center 300 Sugar Land, TX December 19 2003
Plaza San Antonio Marriott 252 San Antonio, TX December 2Q 2003
Dallas/Fort Worth Airport Marriott 491 Dallas/Fort Worth, TX May 10,2004
Omaha Marriott 299 Omaha, NE Septermnber 15, 2004
Hyatt Regency Savannzh 347 Savannah, GA December 30, 2003
Hyatt Regency Wind Watch Leng Island 360 Hauppauge, NY August 19, 2004
Hilton Tampa Westshore 238 Tampa, FL January 8, 2004
Hilton Parsippany 510 Parsiopany, NJ August 19, 2004
Crowne Plaza Atlanta-Ravinia 495 Atlanta, GA August 19, 2004
Radisson Mount Laurel 283 Mount Laurel, NJ September 1, 2004
Sheraton Annapolis 198 Annapolis, MD February 4, 2005
4,020
LIMITED SERVICE:
Hitton Garden Inn Virginia Bezch Town Center 178 Virginia Beach, VA December 19, 2003
Hilton Garden Inn BW! Airport 158 Linthicum, MD January 12, 2004
Courtyard Savannah Historic District 156 Savannah, GA August 2, 2004
Courtyard Boston Trermont 322 Boston, MA August 19, 2004
Courtyard Denver Airport 202 Denver, CO September 17, 2004
1,014
EXTENDED STAY:
Residence Inn Tampa Downtown 109 Tampa, FL August 2, 2004
Total number of roorns 5,143
BUSINESS STRATEGY Homewocd Suites, and Hilton Garden inn. However, our ability to operate a hotel

We intend to evaluate our portalic on a regular basis to determine if our hote!
properties continue to satisty our current investment criteria. We believe that the
following Investment criteria and strategies promote our continued growth and our

total return to stockholders:

External Growth - We seek tc focus our investments in upscale full-service,
premium limited-service and extended stay hotels located in major convention,
business, resort and airport markets in the United States and all-inclusive resort
properties in beachfront destinations outside of the United States. We believe that
these types of hotels currently offer the opportunity for better risk-adjusted returns
than hotels in cther sectors in the industry. Within our target sectors, we seek to
acquire hotel properties that have superior locations within their respective markets,
are in markets with high barriers to entry, are market leaders or are new, or relative-
ly new; properties and well-maintained. We also consider investments in hotel
properties that possess sound operating fundamentals but are underperforming in
their respective markets and would benefit from renovation, re-branding or a

change in management.

In the United States, we seek to invest in hotels operating under national franchise
brands such as Marriott, Hilton, Hyatt, Renaissance, Sheraton, Westin, Crowne

Plaza, Courtyard by Marriott, Residence Inn by Marriott, Embassy Suites,

10 HIGHLAND HOSPITALITY

under these brands is subject to the franchisor's approval of any application we
would submit to operate a particular facility under such brand and our execution of
afranchise agreement with the franchisor. Qutside of the United States, we focus
on acquiring all-inclusive resorts operating under the Barcelé brand name, or other
resorts that can be rebranded with the Barceld name, that meet our investment
criteria. "Barceld” means Barceld Corporacién Empresarial, S.A., which is based

in Palma de Mallorea, Spain and is one of the world's largest and most respected
hospitality companies with 220 hotels owned, managed, leased or franchised in
19 countries on four continents, Barcelé Crestline is a2 wholly-owned subsidiary of
Barceld. We plan on leveraging Barceld's unique all-inclusive operating model,
which we believe works efficiently in high-quality resort locations, driving strong

revenue growth, profitability and return on investment.

Stabilized Assets - We believe that over the next several years, existing upscale
full-service, premium limited-service and extended stay hotels located in major
convention, business, resort and airport markets in the United States and all-inclusive
resort properties in beachfront destinations outside of the United States will offer
the opportunity for better risk-adjusted returns than hotels in other sectors in the
industry. Within our target sectors, we seek to acquire hotel properties that meet

the following criteria:




Strong location in its market - hotel properties located in markets with high
barriers to entry, adjacent to a convention center, that serve as an integral com-
ponent of a master development or mixed-use project or reside on a superior

beachfront location or within a protected area that prohibits further development;

Hard-to-duplicate hotel property - hotel properties developed using public
financing that could not have been financed entirely in the private sector or
possessing a unigue competitive advantage that distinguishes them from other

hotels in their markets;

Market leaders - hotel properties that are proven leaders in market share, setting
the rates in the market and providing superior meeting space, services or

amenities; and

Good condition - hotel properties that are new, or relatively new, or recently

renovated and well-maintained.

Because we believe hotel properties that possess these characteristics currently
can be acquired at prices below replacement costs, we expect these hotel proper-

ties to provide stable returns over the long term.

Renovation, Repositioning and Re-branding Opportunities - We believe that there
are opporiunities to acquire hotel properties that possess sound operating funda-
mentals, but are underperforming in their respective markets and would benefit

from renovation, repositioning or re-branding efforts. We intend to pursue oppor-

tunities for:

Re-branding - we investigate opportunities to re-brand certain hotels by deter-
mining which brands are available in the market, seeking to quantify the potential
improvement in revenue generation and profitability and undertaking a
cost/benefit analysis of investing capital to bring the property into compliance
with the standards of the selected brand:;

Renovation - we consider properties that are in prime locations and are struc-
turally sound, but have been neglected and can be purchased at attractive
prices and renovated and reintroduced into the market at a cost significantly
lower than what would have been spent to acquire a stabilized property or to

develop a new hotel of similar quality; or

New management - we intend to identify hotel properties that are underper-
forming due to poor management where we can acquire the properties at an
attractive price and replace management with qualified managers such as

Barceld Crestline and Barcelé.

Internal Growth - We work with our hotel management companies to aggressive-
ly pursue ways to enhance the profitability of our hotels. We seek to negotiate man-
agement agreements that align our managers’ interests with ours, which is to gen-
erate revenue growth while producing acceptable operating profits. We work with
our managers to identify cost-savings opportunities and projects that result in

a positive return on investment.

We have begun, or will begin shortly, significant renovations on seven hote! proper-

ties, including the Plaza San Antonio Marriott hotel, the Hyatt Regency Savannah

hotel, the Crowne Plaza Atlanta-Ravinia hotel, the Hilton Parsippany hotel, the
Hyatt Regency Wind Watch Long Island hotel, the Courtyard Boston Tremont
hotel, and the Radisson Mount Laurel hotel. We expect to spend approximately
$52 million on the renovations, the majority of which we expect to have committed
or spent by the end of the third quarter 2005. We believe that once these renova-
tions are completed, our improved hotel properties will be well positioned to com-

pete with the other leading hotels in their respective markets.

STRATEGIC ALLIANCE AGREEMENT

On December 19, 2003, we entered into a seven-year strategic alliance agree-
ment with Barcelé Crestline pursuant to which (i) Barceld Crestline agrees to refer
to us (on an exclusive basis) hotel acquisition opportunities in the United States
presented to Barceld Crestline or its subsidiaries, other than opportunities that
primarily relate to third-party management arrangements offered to Barceld
Crestline, and (i} we agree to offer Barceld Crestline or its subsidiaries the right to
manage hotel properties that we acquire in the United States, unless (a) a majority
of our independent directors in good faith conclude for valid business reasons that
another management company should manage the acquired hotel, or (b) the hotel
is encumbered by a management agreement that would extend beyond the date of
our acquisition of the hotel and a termination fee is payable to terminate the existing
management agreement (unless Barcelé Crestline pays such termination fee).
Crestline Hotels & Resorts, Inc, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Barceld

Crestline, currently manages 10 of our 18 hotel properties.

LEASE AGREEMENTS

in order for us to qualify as a REIT, neither our company nor the Operating
Partnership or its subsidiaries can operate our hotels directly. Our Operating
Partnership, or subsidiaries of our Operating Partnership, as lessors, leases our
hotels to HHC TRS, or subsidiaries of HHC TRS, as TRS lassees, and the TRS
lessees enter into agreements with third-party management companies to manage
the hotels. Fach lease for the hotels has a non-cancelable term of ten years, subject
to earlier termination upon the occurrence of certain contingencies described in

the lease.

During the term of each lease, the TRS lessees are obligated to pay (i) the greater
of a fixed annual base rent or percentage rent and (i) certain other additional
charges. Base rent accrues and is paid monthly. Percentage rent is calculated by
multiplying fixed percentages by gross room revenues, food and beverage revenues,

and other revenues for each of the hotels and is paid quarterly.

MANAGEMENT AGREEMENTS

QOur hotels are managed and operated by third parties pursuant to management
agreements with our TRS lessees. The initial terms of our maragement agreements
are generally 10 to 20 years, subject, in some cases, to renewal options. We have
five different management companies operating our hotels. The management
companies generally have sole responsibility and exclusive authority for all activities

necessary for the day-to-day operation of the hotels, including establishing all room

WWW. HIGHLANDHOSPITALITY.COM il
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OUR BUSINESS

rates, processing reservations, procuring inventories, supplies and services, and
promoting and publicizing the hotels. In addition, the management companies pro-
vide all managerial and other employees for the hotels, oversee the operation and
maintenance of the hotels, prepare reports, budgets and projections, and provide

other administrative and accounting support services to the hotels.

Each management company receives a base management fee generally between
2% and 4% of hotel revenues. The management companies are also eligible to
receive an incentive management fee, if hotel operating income, as defined in the
management agreements, exceeds certain thresholds, The incentive management
fee is generally calculated as a percentage of hotel operating income after we have
received a priority return on our investment in the hotel. The management agree-
ments also allow the management companies to charge our hotels for services that
are generally furnished on a centralized basis. Such services include: (1) the devel-
opment and operation of certain computer systems and reservation services; (2)
regional managemernt and administrative services, regional marketing and sales
services, regional training services, manpower development and relocation of
regional personnel; and (3) such additional central or regional services as may trom
time to time be more efficiently performed on a regional or group basis rather than
at an individual hotel. Costs and expenses incurred in providing these services are
generally allocated among all hotels managed by the management company or its

affiliates,

Generally, cur management agreements limit our ability to sell, lease or otherwise
transfer the hotels by requiring that the transferee assume the related management
agreements and meet specified other conditions, including the condition that the
transferee not be a competitor of the management company. In addition, the man-
agement agreements provide for termination rights in the case of a management

company's failure to meet certain financial performance criteria.

FRANCHISE AGREEMENTS

Of our 18 hotel properties, 13 currently operate pursuant to franchise agreements
from national hotel companies. The initial terms of our franchise agreements are
generally 20 to 30 years. Our other five hotel properties, which include the Hyatt
Regency Savannah hotel, the Hyatt Regency Wind Watch Long Island hotel, the
Dallas/Fort Worth Airport Marriott hotel, the Courtyard Boston Tremont hotel, and
the Courtyard Denver Airport hotel, are managed by Hyatt Corporation or
Mearriott International, Inc. The management agreements for these five hotel prop-

erties allow the hotel property to operate under the respective brand.

We anticipate that most of the additional hotel properties that we acquire will oper-
ate pursuant to franchise agreements, We believe that the public's perception of
quality associated with a franchisor is an important feature in the operation of a
hotel. Franchisors provide a varisty of benefits for franchisees, which include nation-
al advertising, publicity and other marketing programs designed to increase brand
awareness, training of personne, continuous review of quality standards, and cen-

tralized reservation systems.

12 HIGHLAND HOSPITALITY

The franchise agreements are entered into by our TRS lessees. The franchise
agreements generally specify certain management, operational, record keeping,
accounting, reporting and marketing standards and procedures with which the TRS
lessees must comply. The franchise agreements obligate the TRS lessees to comply
with the franchisors standards and requirements with respect to training of opera-
tional personnel, safety, maintaining specified insurance, the types of services and
products ancillary to guest room services that may be provided, display of signs,
and the type, quality and age of furniture, fixtures and equipment included in guest

rooms, lobbies and other common areas.

The franchise agreements provide for termination at the franchisor's option upon
the occurrence of certain events, including the TRS lessees’ failure to pay royalties
and fees or perform its other covenants pursuant to the franchise agreement, bank-
ruptcy, abandonment of the franchise, commission of a felony, assignment of the
franchise without the consent of the franchisor, or failure to comply with applicable
law in the operation of the relevant hotel. The franchise agreements will not renew
automatically upon expiration. The TRS lessees are responsible for making all pay-
ments pursuant to the franchise agreements to the franchisors. Pursuant to the fran-
chise agreements, the TRS lessees pay a royalty fee generally between 4% and 5%
of room revenues, plus additional fees for marketing, central reservation systems,
and other franchisor costs that amount to between 3% and 4% of room revenues

from the hotels.

TAX STATUS

We have elected to be taxed as a REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the
Internal Revenue Code. To qualify as a REIT, we must meet a number of organiza-
tional and operational requirements, including a requirement that we currently dis-
tribute at least 90% of our REIT taxable income (excluding net capital gains) to our
stockholders. it is our current intention to adhere to these requirements and main-
tain our qualification for taxation as a REIT. As a REIT, we generally will not be sub-
ject to federal corporate income tax on that portion of cur taxable income that is
currently distributed to stockholders. If we fail to qualify for taxation as a REIT in any
taxable year, we will be subject to federal income taxes at regular corporate rates
(including any apolicable alternative minimum tax) and may not be able to qualfy
as a REIT for four subsequent taxable years. Even if we qualify for taxation as a
REIT, we may be subject to certain state and local taxes on our income and proper-
ty, and to federal income and excise taxes on our undistributed taxable income. In
addition, taxable income from non-REIT activities managed through taxable REIT

subsidiaries is subject to federal, state and local income taxes.

SEASONALITY

Demand in the lodging industry is affected by recurring seascnal patterns. For non-
resort properties, demand is generally lower in the winter months due to decreased
travel and higher in the spring and summer months during the peak travel season.
We expect that our operations will generally reflect non-resort seasonality patterns.
Accordingly, we expect that we will have lower revenue, operating income and

cash flow in the first and fourth quarters and higher revenue, operating income and




cash flow in the second and third quarters. These general trends are, however,

expected to be greatly influenced by overall economic cycles.

COMPETITION

The hotel industry is highly competitive with various participants competing on the
basis of price, level of service and geographic location. Each of our hotels is locat-
ed in a developed area that includes other hotel properties. The number of com-

petitive hotel properties in a particular area could have & material adverse effect on

accupancy, average daily rate (ADR") and revenue per available room {"RevPAR")

of our hotels or at hotel properties acquired in the future. We believe that brand
recognition, location, the quality of the hotel, consistency of services provided, and

price are the principal competitive factors affecting our hotels.

EMPLOYEES

As of March 4, 2005, we employed 13 persons, all of whom work at our corpo-
rate office in McLean, Virginia. All persons employed in the day-to-day operations
of the hotels are employees of the management companies engaged by the TRS

lessees to operate such hotels.

MARKET FOR OUR COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

MARKET INFORMATION

Qur common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol
“HIH". The following table sets forth, for the indicated period, the high and low clos-

ing prices for the common stock, as reported on the New York Stock Exchange:

Price Range
High Low

Year Ended December 31, 2003

Fourth Quarter® $10.90 $10.52
Year Ended December 31, 2004

First Quarter $ 1250 $10.85

Second Quarter $11.65 $ 996

Third Quarter $11.85 $10.00

Fourth Quarter $11.89 $10.59
Year Ending December 31, 2005

First Quarter (through March 4, 2005) $11.10 $10.05

D Our common stock commenced trading on the New York Stock Exchange on December 16, 2003,

The closing price of our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange on

March 4, 2005 was $10.20 per share.

DISTRIBUTION INFORMATION

In order to maintain our qualification as a REIT we must make annual distributions
to our stockholders of at least 90% of our taxable income (excluding net capital
gains). For federal income tax purposes, distributions that we make may consist of
ordinary income, capital gains, nontaxable return of capital or a combination of
those items. Distributions that exceed our current and accumulated earnings and
profits (calculated for tax purposes) constitute a return of capital rather than a divi-
dend, which reduces a stockholder's basis in the shares of common stock and will
not be taxable to the extent that the distribution equals or is less than the stockhold-
er's basis in the stock. To the extent that a distribution exceeds both current and

accumulated earnings and profits and the stockholder's basis in the stock, that dis-

tribution will be treated as a gain from the sale or exchange of that stockholder's
shares. Every year, we notify stockholders of the taxable composition of distribu-

tions paid during the preceding year.

In June 2004, we declared our first dividend payment of $13 per common share
for the six months ended June 30, 2004. The dividend was paid on July 15, 2004
to stockholders of record as of June 30, 2004. In September 2004, we declared
a dividend payment of $.09 per common share for the quarter ended September
30, 2004. The dividend was paid on October 15, 2004 to stockholders of record
as of September 30, 2004, As reported to stockholders, $025598 per common
share of the July 15, 2004 dividend constituted a return of capital and $.017722
per common share of the October 15, 2004 dividend constituted & return of
capital. In December 2004, we declared a dividend payment of $14 per common
share for the quarter ended December 31, 2004, The dividend was paid on
January 14, 2005 to stockholders of record as of December 31, 2004, and such
dividend will be taxable when received by stockholders for federal income tax pur-
poses. We intend to continue to declare quarterly distributions to our stockholders.
The amount of our future distributions will be based upon quarterly operating
results, general economic conditions, capital requirements, the Internal Revenue
Code's annual distribution requirements, and other factors which our board of

directors deems relevant,

STOCKHOLDER INFORMATION

As of March 4, 2005, there were 31 record holders of our common stock, includ-
ing shares held in "street name” by nominees who are record holders, and approxi-

mately 3165 beneficial owners.

In order to comply with certain requirements related to our qualification as a REIT,
our charter, subject to certain exceptions, limits the number of common shares that
may be owned by any single person or affiiated group to 99% of the outstanding

common shares.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF

FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

OVERVIEW

Highland Hospitality Corporation is a seff-advised REIT that was incorporated in July 2003 to own upscale full-service, premium limited-service, and extended stay proper-

ties located in major conventior, business, resort and airport markets in the United States and all-inclusive resort properties in certain beachfront destinations outside of the

United States. We commenced operations on Dacember 19, 2003 when we completed our IPO and concurrently consummated the acquisition of three hotel properties.

The IPO, including the exercise of the underwriters  over-allotment option, consisted of the sale of 34,500,000 shares of common stock, resulting in net proceeds of

approximately $3189 million. Concurrent with the IPO, we sold in private placement transactions an aggregate of 4550000 shares of comman stock, resulting in pro-

ceeds of approximately $423 million. The total net procesds generated from the IPO the exercise of the underwriters' over-allotment option, and the private placement

transactions were approximately $3612 million.

QOur initial three hotel properties were acquired from entities that were partially owned by Barcelé Crestline, which was the sponsor of our formation and IPO. We used

approximately $619 million of net proceeds from the IPO and issued 967211 units of our Operating Partnership to acquire all of the equity interests in the three entities. The

equity interests in the three entities acquired from Barcelé Crestling, as our sponsor, in exchange for Operating Partrership units have been accounted for as a recrganiza-

tion of entities under common control and recorded at Barceld Crestline’s historical cost basis. The remaining equity interests in the three entities acquired from third parties

have been accounted for as acquisitions of minority interests and recorded at fair value.

Since the IPO and the acquisition of the initial three hotel properties on December 19, 2003, we have acquired 14 hotel properties (two in December 2003 and 12 in

2004) for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $523.5 million, including the assumption of mortgage debt of approximately $28.3 million. We have accounted

for the acquisition of the 14 hotel properties under the purchase method of accounting, recording these hotels at their acquisition costs. As of December 31, 2004, we

owned the following 17 hotel properties:

Property Number of Rooms Location Acquired
Portsmouth Renaissance and Conference Center 249 Portsmouth, VA December 19, 2003
Sugar Land Marriott and Conference Center 300 Sugar Land, TX December 19, 2003
Hilton Garden Inn Virginia Beach Town Center 176 Virginia Beach, VA December 13, 2003
Plaza San Antonic Marriott 252 San Antonic, TX December 2G, 2003
Hyatt Regency Savannah 347 Savannah, GA December 30,2003
Hilton Tampa Westshore 238 Tampa, FL January 8, 2004
Hilton Garden Inn BWI Airport 168 Linthicum, MD January 12, 2004
Dallas/Fort Worth Airport Marriott 491 Dallas/Fort Worth, TX May 10,2004
Residence Inn Tampa Downtown 109 Tampa, FL August 2, 2004
Courtyard Savannah Historic District - 156 Savannah, GA August 2, 2004
Hyatt Regency Wind Watch Leng Island 360 Hauppauge, NY August 16, 2004
Courtyard Boston Tremont 322 Boston, MA August 19,2004
Crowne Plaza Atlanta-Ravinia 485 Atlanta, GA August 19, 2004
Hilton Parsippany 510 Parsippany, NJ August 16, 2004
Radisson Mount Laurel 283 Mount Laurel, NJ September 1, 2004
Omazha Marriott 209 Omaha, NE September 15, 2004
Courtyard Denver Airport 202 Denver, CO September 17, 2004
Total number of rooms 4,847

Substantially all of our assets are held by, and all of our operations are conducted through our Operating Partnership. In order for us to qualify as a REIT, neither our compa-

ny nor the Operating Partnership can operate hotels directly. Therefore, the Operating Partnership, which is owned approximately 98% by us and approximately 2% by

other limited partners, leases its hotels to subsidiaries of HHC TRS Holding Corporation (collectively, "HHC TRS"), which is a whelly-owned subsidiary of the Operating

Partnership. HHC TRS then engages hotel management companies to operate the hotels pursuant to management contracts. HHC TRS is treated as a taxable REIT sub-

sidiary for federal income tax purposes.

The discussion below relates to Highland Hospitality Corporation as of and for the year ended December 31, 2004 and for the period from December 19, 2003 (com-

mencement of operations) through December 31, 2003, Prior to December 16, 2003, the discussion below relates to Portsmouth Hotel Associates, LLC, which was one of

the three entities that we acquired on December 19, 2003 and was partially owned by Barceld Crestline. Portsmouth Hotel Associates, LLC is considered the predecessor
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to Highland Hospitality Corporation for accounting purposes. Securities and
Exchange Commission regulations require the inclusion of predecessor financial
infermation for the periods prior to Highland Hospitality Corporation's commence-

ment of operations.

KEY OPERATING METRICS

Hotel results of operations are best explained by three key performance indicators:
occupancy, average daily rate (ADR") and revenue per availzble room ("RevPAR"),
which is room revenue divided by total number of room nights. RevPAR does not
include food and beverage revenues or other ancillary revenues, such as telephone,

parking or other guest services provided by the property.

Oceupancy is a major driver of room revenue, as well as other revenue categories,
such as food and beverage and telephone. ADR helps to drive room revenue as
well: however, it does not have a direct effect on other revenue categories. Fluctua-
tions in occupancy are accompanied by fluctuations in most categories of variable
operating costs, such as utility costs and certain labor costs such as housekeeping,
resulting in varying levels of hotel profitability. Increases in ADR typically result in
higher hotel profitability since variable hotel expenses gererally do not increase
correspondingly. Thus, increases in RevPAR attributable to increases in occupancy
are accompanied by increases in most categories of variable operating costs, while
increases in RevPAR attributable to increases in ADR are accompanied by increases

in limited categories of operating costs, such as management fees and franchise fees.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF 2004 EVENTS

The year 2004 was an eventful and productive year for Highland Hospitality
Corporation. We started 2004 having just completed a successful initial public
offering and the acquisition of our first five hotel properties in December 2003,
During 2004, we acquired an additional 12 hotels, consisting of over 3600
rooms, for approximately $442 million, including the assumption of mortgage debt
and transaction costs, These acquisitions were consistent with our strategy of
acquiring upscale full-service and premium limited-service hotels that provide solid
initial yields or that have the potential of becoming market leaders through renovat-
ing, re-branding and repositioning efforts. By December 31, 2004, just over 12
months from the date of our initial public offering and commencement of opera-
tions, we had acquired 17 hotel properties, consisting of over 4300 rooms, for
approximately $589 million, including the assumption of mortgage debt, issuance

of Operating Partnership units, and fransaction costs.

We were able to acquire 17 hotels by leveraging our equity capital and taking
advantage of the favorable conditions in the debt market, During 2004, we raised
approximately $283 million of fixed-rate mortgage debt with an average maturity
of approximately seven years and an average interest rate of 6.5%. In addition to
this fixed-rate debt, we added a $100 million variable-rate term loan facility, of
which we had drawn down $50 million by the end of the year. As of December 37,
2004, our leverage ratio was approximately 50%. Of our debt, 82% was fixed

rate and 18% was variable rate.

Renovating and repositioning our portfolio in 2005 will be a high priority, as these
efforts will drive our internal growth. Currently, approximately 60% of our portfolio
is either under renovation or ramping up to stabilization. Once these projects are
complete, our improved hotel properties will be well positioned to compete as

leaders in their respective markets,

With respect to the lodging industry as a whole, we believe that the industry is in the
early-to-mid stages of a strong recovery that will produce strong top-line growth and
profits over the next few years and produce solid returns on investments. Overall,
industry-wide RevPAR increased 7.5% in 2004, its highest increase since 1984,
Forecasts for 2005 and 2006 call for a continuation of the strong RevPAR growth,

as favorable industry fundamentals are expected to continue.

Demand for hotel rooms is expected to continue to grow, fueled by the strong eco-
nomic climate, favorable demographics and the return of business travel to histori-
cal levels. Supply growth remains low relative to historical averages and is predicted
to remain at these low levels for the next few years. With demand growth expected
to outpace supply growth, industry occupancy should continue to move higher and

position our industry for additional pricing power.

Although we were pleased with the overall performance of our hotels in 2004, as
we look forward in 2005, we expect to see improvement in our hotels’ perform-
ance driven by our renovation, repositioning and asset management efforts, com-

bined with the continued strength of the lodging industry.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Highland Hospitality Corporation—Year Ended December 31,2004

Results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2004 include the operat-
ing activity of five hotels for the full year and 12 hotels for & partial year (see table

above for hotel property acquisition dates).

Revenues - Total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2004 was $133.0 mil-
lion, which includes rooms revenue of $854 million, food and beverage revenue of
$42.2 million, and other revenue of $54 million. Average occupancy, ADR, and
RevPAR for the year ended December 31, 2004 were 679%, $114.59, and $7777,
respectively. We expect fo see a significant increase in revenues in 2005 as we

benefit from the ownership of 17 hotel properties for the full year

Included in the following table is a comparison of the key hotel operating statistics
for our 17 hotel properties for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003.
Results of operations for hotels acquired in 2004 are included in the statistics for
the year ended December 31, 2004 from their respective acquisition dates. Results
of operations for the comparable 2003 period are included in the statistics for the
year ended December 31, 2003, Since 12 of the 17 hotels were acquired in 2004
and five were acquired in December 2003, the hotel operating statistics for the
year ended December 31, 2003 reflect the results of operations of the hotels
under previous ownership for either a portion of, or the entire, year ended

December 31,2003,
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HIGHLAND HOSPITALITY CORPORATION

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF

FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003
Cccupancy % 69.1 % 69.0 %
ADR $ 11821 $ 11249
RevPAR $ 8027 $ 7761

Hotel operating expenses - Hotzl operating expenses, excluding depreciation and
amortization, for the year ended December 31, 2004 were $1014 million. Direct
hotel operating expenses included rooms expenses of $200 million, food and
beverage expenses of $304 million, and other direct expenses of $31 million.
Indirect hotel operating expenses, which includes management and franchise fees,
real estate taxes, insurance, utifities, repairs and maintenance, advertising and sales,

and general and administrative expenses, were $479 million.

Depreciation and amortization - Depreciation and amortization expense for the

year ended December 31, 2004 was $116 million,

Corporate general and administrative - Total corporate general and administrative
expenses for the year ended December 31, 2004 were $9.5 million, which includ-

ed non-cash stock-based compensation expense of $31 million.

Interest income - Interest income for the year ended December 31, 2004 was

$12 million.

Interest expense - Interest expense for the vear ended December 31, 2004 was

$84 million.

Income tax benefit - Income tax banefit for the vear ended December 31 2004 was
811 million. The income tax benefit resulted from & taxable operating loss incurred by
our TRS lessees for the year ended December 31,2004 As of December 31, 2004,
we had a net deferred tax asset of $1.3 million, primarily due to tex net operating loss-
es. These loss carryforwards will begin to expire in 2023 f not utilized by then, We
believe that it is more likely than nct that the net deferred tax asset will be realized and

have determined that no valuation allowance is required.

Net income - Net income for the year ended Decermber 31, 2004 was $4.3

million, due to the items discussed above.,

Highland Hospitality Corporation—Period from December 19, 2003 through
December 31,2003

Results of operations for the period from December 19, 2003 through December
31,2003 include the operating activity of three hotels for 13 days, one hotel for
three days, and one hotel for two days. The results of operations for the period from
December 19, 2003 through December 31, 2003 are not indicative of future
operating results for the five hotels, as the fourth quarter, in particular the weeks
before and after the Christmas holiday, are traditionally slower periods for business

and leisure travel.
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Revenue - Revenues for the period from Decernber 19, 2003 through December
31,2003 were $07 million, which included rooms revenue of $0.3 million and
food and beverage revenue of $0.3 million. Average occupancy, ADR, and
RevPAR for the period from December 19, 2003 through December 31, 2003
were 322%, $9947, and $3199, respectively.

Expenses - Total hotel operating expenses, excluding depreciation and amortiza-
tion, for the period from December 19, 2003 through December 31, 2003 was
$0.8 million. Depreciation and amortization for the period from December 19,
2003 through December 31, 2003 was $01 million. Tetsl corporate and general
administrative expenses for the period from December 19, 2003 through
December 31, 2003 were $29 milion. Included in corporate and general expenses
were one-time charges related to our IPQ. These charges included $0.5 million
related to director stock-based compensation and $2 million related to start-up
costs and reimbursements to Barceld Crestline, which was the sponsor of our

formation and IPO.

Operating loss for the period from December 19, 2003 through December 31,
2003 was $(31) million, largely due to the iterns discussed above.

Interest income and the minority interest in our operating partnership for the period
from December 19, 2003 through December 31, 2003 were $007 million and
$006 million, respectively. As & result of our operating losses for the period from
December 18, 2003 through December 31, 2003, we recorded an income tax
benefit of $0.3 million. Net loss for the period from December 19, 2003 through
December 31, 2003 was $(2.7) million.

Portsmouth Hotel Associates, LLC—~Comparison of period from January 1,
2003 through December 18, 2003 to year ended December 31,2002

With respect to the following discussion of revenues and expenses, note that a part
of the reason for the decrease in revenues and expenses is due to the fact that the
results of operations for 2003 include Portsmouth Hotel Associates, LLC's activity
for the period from January 1, 2003 through December 18, 2003 (352 days),

whereas the 2002 results of operations include a full year.

Revenue - Room revenues decreased $0.2 million, or 34%, for the period from
January 1, 2003 through December 18, 2003, as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2002, largely the result of decreased room demand. This decrease
is primarily due to the major deployment of military forces to Irag and the impact of
hurricane Isabel in mid-September 2003, Average occupancy decreased from
68.8% for the year ended December 31, 2002 to 674% for the period from
January 1, 2003 through December 18, 2003. ADR increased 21%, improving
from $97.27 for the year ended December 31, 2002 to $99.38 for the pericd
from January 1, 2003 through December 18, 2003, RevPAR increased to $6701
for the period from January 1, 2003 through December 18, 2003 from $6693
for the year ended December 31, 2002. Food and beverage revenue decreased




$0.03 million, or 0.6%, for the period from January 1, 2003 through December
18,2003, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2002. Total revenues
decreased $0.2 million, or 2%, for the pericd from January 1, 2003 through
December 18, 2003, as compared to the year ended December 31 2002, mainly

due to the decreases in room and food and beverage revenues described above.

Expenses - Total hotel operating expenses, excluding depreciation and amortiza-
tion, decreased $0.07 million, or 0.8%, for the period from January 1, 2003
through December 18, 2003 as cornpared to the year ended December 3,
2002, Depreciation and amortization was $0.7 miillion for both the period from
January 1, 2003 through December 18, 2003 and the year ended December 31,
2002. Interest expense increased $002 million, or 2%, for the period from
January 1, 2003 through December 18, 2003, as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2002. The increase was due primarily to the write-off of deferred
financing costs in connection with the acquisition of Portsmouth Hotel Asscciates,

LLC by Highland Hospitality Corporation, offset by lower interest rates in 2003,

Operating income decreased $01 million for the period from January 1, 2003
through December 18, 2003, as compared to the year ended December 31,
2002 Net loss was $01 million for the period from January 1, 2003 through
December 18, 2003, as compared to net income of $0.07 million for the year
ended December 31, 2002, due to the items discussed above.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our principal source of cash to meet our operating requirements, including distri-
butions to stockholders and repayments of indebtedness, is from our hotels results
of operations. For the year ended December 31, 2004, net cash provided by
operating activities was $22.6 million, We currently expect that our operating cash
flows will be sufficient to fund our continuing operations, including distributions to
stockholders required to maintain our REIT status and our required debt service

obligations.

For the year ended December 31, 2004, net cash used in investing activities was
$4706 million. We used $416.7 million to purchase hotel properties and $6.7 mil-
lion in improverments and additions to our hotel properties. Restricted cash
increased by $38.5 million. Of the $38.5 million net increase in restricted cash,
$275 million relates to cash that one of our lenders required us to escrow for the
renovations on the hotels that secure the lending. As of December 31,2004, $87
million was held in escrow related to deposits we made during the year on hotel

property acquisitions.

For the year ended December 31, 2004, net cash provided by financing activities
was $2079 million. Proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt were $332.6,
including the issuance of $282.6 million of fixed rate debt with average maturities
of approximately seven years and an average interest rate of 6.5%. In addition to
this fixed rate long-term debt, we completed a $100 million variable rate term foan
facility, of which $50 million had been drawn down by December 31, 2004. We
used $181 million to make principal payments on our long-term debt, including

$16Q million related to the refinancing of the mortgage debt on the Hilton Tampa

Westshore hotel. We used $8.8 million to pay dividends to common stockholders

that were declared in June and September 2004.

As of December 31, 2004, we had cash and cash equivalents of $75.5 million and
$40 million of borrowing capacity under the term loan {acility. An additional $10
million will become available under the term loan facility once the seven hotel prop-
erties that secure the facility have exceeded a debt service coverage ratio set forth
in the tacility agreement. In addition, we may raise up to $500 million through the
sale of equity securities pursuant to our effective shelf registration statement with the

Securities and Exchange Commission.

On February 4, 2005, we used approximately $18 million to acquire the 196-room
Sheraton Annapolis hotel in Annapolis, Maryland. We intend to invest our remaining
cash and cash equivalents and additional capacity under the term loan facility in hotel

properties, either through planned renovations or new hotel acquisitions.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

We maintain each hotel in good repair and condition and in conformity with appli-
cable laws and regulations and in accordance with the franchisor's standards and
the agreed upon requirements in our management agreements. The cost of all
such routine maintenance, repairs and alterations will be paid out of a property
improvernent fund, which will be funded by a portion of hotel gross revenues,
Routine repairs and maintenance will be administered by the management compa-
nies. However, we have approval rights over capital expenditures, A number of
hotel properties have begun or are beginning major renovation projects, including
the Plaza San Antonio Marriott hotel, the Hyatt Regency Savannah hotel, the Hyatt
Regency Wind Watch Long Island hotel, the Crowne Plaza Atlanta-Ravinia hotel,
the Hilton Parsippany hotel, the Courtyard Boston Tremont hotel, and the Radisson
Mount Laurel hotel. We expect to spend approximately $52 million on the renova-
tions, of which approximately $27.5 million will be funded from restricted cash, We

expect that the majority of cash will be committed or spent by the end of the third

quarter 2005,

WWW. HIGHLANDHOSPITALITY.COM 17



~ HIGHLAND HOSPITALITY CORPORATION
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF

FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

The following table sets forth our contractual obligations as of December 31,
2004, and the effect such obligations are expected to have on our liquidity and
cash flow in future periods (in thousands). There were no other material off-balance

sheet arrangements at December 31, 2004,

Payments Due by Period

Contractual Less Than Oneto Threeto  More Than
Obligations Total One Year  Three Years Five Years  Five Years
Ground and

buldingleases® & 5768 $§ 191 8 383 & 267 & 4927
Mortgage loans,

including interest 375,770 20,864 42,935 51,479 260,492
Mezzanine loan,

including interest 38,577 2,411 4,822 4,822 26,522
Term loan facility,

including interest? 57,710 2,570 55140 - -

$477,826 $26,036 $103280 $56,568 $ 291,941

M ncluded in the table are the base rert payments (ie, minimum lease payments) due under the ground

and building lease agreements for the Portsmouth Renaissance hotel and adjeining conference center
and the conference center and parking factlity adjcining the Sugar Land Marriott hote!, The lease
agreements provide for base rent payments each year and additional rent payments once we have
exceeded a speciiied return on our criginal investment, Additional rent payments are not included in
the table due to the uncertainty of the timing and amount of the payments in the future. However, we do
not expect to make additional rent payments over the next five years

Assumes no additional borrowings under the term loan facility and interest payments based on the
interest rate in effect as of December 31,2004,

INFLATION

Operators of hotels, in general, possess the ability to adjust room rates daily to
reflect the effects of inflation. However, competitive pressures may limit the ability of

our management companies to raise room rates.

SEASONALITY

Demand in the lodging industry is affected by recurring seasonal patterns. For non-
resort properties, demand is generally lower in the winter months due to decreased
travel and higher in the spring and summer months during the peak travel season.
We expect that our operations will generally reflect non-resort seasonality patterns.
Accordingly, we expect that we will have lower revenue, operating income and
cash flow in the first and fourth quarters and higher revenue, operating income and
cash flow in the second and thirc quarters. These general trends are, however,

expected to be greatly influenced by overall economic cycles.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

We believe that the following critical accounting policies affect the most significant

judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our financial statements:

Investment in Hotel Properties - Investments in hotel properties are stated at
acquisition cost (except where interests are acquired from Barcelé Crestline) and
allocated to land, property and eguipment and identifiable intangible assets at fair
value in accordance with Statemant of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141,

Business Combinations. Property and equipment are recorded at fair value based

18 HIGHLAND HOSPITALITY

on current replacement cost for similar capacity and allocated to buildings,
improvements, furniture, fixtures and equipment using cost segregation studies
performed by management and independent third parties. Property and equip-
ment are depreciated using the straight-line method over an estimated useful life of
15 10 40 years for buildings and improvements and three to ten years for furniture
and equipment. [dentifiable intangible assets are typically contracts, including lease,
management and franchise agreements, which are recorded at fair value. Above-
market and below-market contract values are based on the present value of the
difference between contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the contracts
acquired and our estimate of the fair market contract rates for corresponding
contracts measured over a period equal to the remaining non-cancelable term of
the contract. Contracts acquired which are at market do not have significant value.
An existing management or franchise agreement is typically terminated at the time
of acquisition and a new agreement is entered into based on then current market
terms. Intangible assets are amortized using the straight-line method over the
remaining non-cancelable term of the related agreements, [n making estimates of
fair values for purposes of allocating purchase price, we may utilize a number of
sources that may be obtained in connection with the acquisition or financing of a
property and other market data. Management also considers information obtained
about each property as a result of its pre-acquisition due diligence in estimating the

fair value of the tangible and intangible assets acquired.

We review our investments in hotel properties for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the investments in hotel
properties may not be recoverable. Events or circumstances that may cause us to
perform our review include, but are not limited to, adverse changes in the demand
for lodging at our properties due to declining natiorial or local economic conditions
and/or new hotel construction in markets where our hotels are located. When such
conditions exist, management performs an analysis to determine if the estimated
undiscounted future cash flows from operations and the proceeds from the ultimate
disposition of an investment in a hotel property exceed the hotel's carrying value. f
the estimated undiscounted future cash flows are less than the carrying amount of
the asset, an adjustment to reduce the carrying value to the estimated fair market

value is recorded and an impairment loss recognized.

Stock-based Compensation - We account for stock-based employee compensation
using the fair value based method of accounting described in Staternent of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 123, Accounting for Stock-based Compensation, as
amended. For restricted stock awards, we record unearned compensation equal to
the number of shares awarded multiplied by the average price of our common stock
on the date of the award, less the purchase price for the stock, f any. Unearned com-
pensation is amortized using the straight-line method over the period in which the
restrictions lapse (ie, vesting period). For unrestricted stock awards, we record
compensation expense on the date of the award equal to the number of shares
awarded multiplied by the average price of our common stock on the date of the

award, less the purchase price for the stock, if any.

Revenue Recognition - Hotel revenues, including room, food and beverage, and

other hotel revenues, are recognized as the related services are provided.




Income Taxes - We record a valuation allowance to reduce deferred tax assets to an
amount that we believe is more likely than not to be realized. Because of expected
future taxable income of our TRS lessees, we have not recorded a valuation
allowance to reduce our net deferred tax asset as of December 31, 2004. Should
our estimate of future taxable income be less than expected, we would record an

adjustment to the net deferred tax asset in the period such determination was made.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based
Payment ("SFAS 123R"), requires that the cost resulting from all share-based payment
transactions be recognized in the financial statements. The statement requires a
public entity to measure the cost of employee services received in exchange for an
award of equity instruments based on the grant-date fair value of the award (with
limited exceptions). That cost will be recognized over the period during which an
employee is required to provide service in exchange for the award, No compensa-
tion cost is recognized for equity instruments for which employees do not render the
requisite service. The provisions of SFAS 123R will be effective as of July 1, 2005.
Since we currently use the fair value method of accounting for stock-based compen-
sation, the adoption of SFAS 123R is not expected to have a material effect on our

results of operations, financial position, or cash flows.

FASB Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an
Interpretation of Accounting Research Bulletin No, 51 as amended ("FIN 46R"),
requires certain variable interest entities to be consolidated by the primary benefici-
ary of the entity if the equity investors in the entity do not have the characteristics of
a controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk for the entity to
finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other
parties. The adoption of FIN 46R did not have a material impact on our results of

operations, financial position, or cash flows.

Staterment of Financial Accounting Standards No. 150, Accounting for Certain
Financial Instrurments with Characteristics of both Liabiliies and Equity ('SFAS150"),
clarifies the accounting for certain financial instruments with characteristics of both
liabilities and equity and requires that those instruments be classified as ligbilities in
statements of financial position. Previously, many of these financial instruments were
classified as equity. The adoption of SFAS 150 did not have a material impact on

our results of operations, financial position, or cash flows.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27 A
of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, and as such may involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other
factors which may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be
materially different from future results, performance or achievements expressed or
implied by such forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements, which are
based on certain assumptions and describe our future plans, strategies and expecta-
tions, are generally identified by our use of words, such as "intend,” “plan” "may;’
“should,” “will “project,” “estimate, “anticipate,” “believe, “expect, “continue, “poten-

tial! “opportunity, and similar expressions, whether in the negative or affirmative. Al

statements regarding our expected financial position, business and financing plans
are forward-locking statements. Factors which could have a material adverse effect

on our operations and future prospects include, but are not limited to:

United States economic conditions generally and the real estate market and the

lodging industry specifically;

management and performance of our hotels;

our plans for renovation of our hotels;

our financing plans;

supply and demand for hotel rooms in our current and proposed market areas;

our ability to acquire additional properties and the risk that potential acquisitions

may not perform in accordance with expectations;

legislative/regulatory changes, including changes to laws governing taxation of

real estate investment trusts; and
our competition.

These risks and uncertainties should be considered in evaluating any forward-

looking statement contained in this report or incorporated by reference herein. All for-
ward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this report or, in the case of any
document incorporated by reference, the date of that document. All subsequent writ-
ten and oral forward-locking statements attributable to us or any person acting on our
behalf are quelified by the cautionary statements in this section. We undertake no obli-
gation to update or publicly release any revisions to forward-looking statements to

reflect events, circumstances or changes in expectations after the date of this report.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES
ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are not significantly exposed to interest rate risk. As of December 31,2004,
$2816 million or 82% of our $3431 millicn of long-term debt was fixed. Ancther
$11.5 miflion was effectively fixed, as a result of an interest rate swap that fixed the
interest rate on one of our mortgage loans at 7.34%. The remaining $50 million of

our long-term debt was variable.

Due to the fact that cur portfolio of long-term debt is substantially comprised of
fixed-rate instruments, the fair value of the portfolio is relatively sensitive to effects of
interest rate fluctuations. Assuming a hypothetical 10% decrease in interest rates,
the fair value of our portfolio of long-term debt would increase by approximately
$10 million. Although a change in market interest rates impacts the fair value of our

fixed-rate debt, it has no impact on interest expense incurred or cash flows.

With respect to our variable rate long-term debt, if market rates of interest on our
variable long-term debt increase by 1%, the increase in interest expense on our variable
long-term debt would decrease future earnings and cash flows by approximately
$05 million annually. On the other hand, if market rates of interest on our variable
rate long-term debt decrease by 19, the decrease in interest expense on our variable
rate long-term debt would increase future earnings and cash flows by approximately
$0.5 million annually. This assumes that the amount outstanding under our term loan
facility remains at $50 million, the bélance at December 31, 2004.
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HIGHLAND HOSPITALITY CORPORATION

MANAGEMENT'S REPORT ON INTERNAL
CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management of Highland Hospitality Corporation (the "Company”) is responsible
for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting
and for the assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial report-
ing. As defined by the Securities and Exchange Commission, internal control over
financial reporting is & process designed by, or under the supervision of the
Company's principal executive and principal financial officers and effected by the
Company's board of directors, management and other personnel, to provide rea-
sonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles

generally accepted in the United States of America.

The Company's internal contro over financial reporting is supported by written
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in rea-
sonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the Company's transactions and disposi-
tions of the Company's assets; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions
are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of the consolidated financial state-
ments in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being
made cnly in accordance with authorizations of the Company’s management and
directors; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely
detection of unautherized acquisition, use or disposition of the Compary's assets

that could have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not
prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness
to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of combﬁance with the

policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In connection with the preparation of the Company's annual consolidated financial
statements, management has undertaken an assessment of the effectiveness of the
Company's internal control aver financial reporting as of December 31,2004,
based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSQ). Management's assessment included an evaluation of the design of the
Company's internal control over financial reporting and testing of the operational

effectiveness of those controls.

Based on this assessment, management has concluded that as of December 31,
2004, the Company's internal control over financial reporting was effective to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

KPMG LLP the independent registered public accounting tirm that audited the
Company's consolidated financizl statements included in this report, has issued an

audit report on management's assessment of internal control over financial reporting.
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MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY
FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management of the Company has prepared and is responsible for the consolidated
financial statements and related financial information included in this report. These
financial statements were prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements necessarily

include amounts determined using management’s best judgments and estimates.

The Company's accounting and other control systems provide reasonable assur-
ance that assets are safeguarded and that the books and records reflect the author-
ized transactions of the Company. Underlying the concept of reasonable assurance
is the premise that the cost of contral not exceed the benefit derived. Management
believes that the Company's accounting and other control systems appropriately

recognize this cost/benefit relationship.

The Company's independent registered public accounting firm, KPMG LLP,
provides an independent assessment of the degree to which management meets
its responsibility for fairness in financial reporting. It evaluates the Company's
system of internal accounting controls and performs such tests and other
procedures as it deems necessary to reach and express an opinion on the

financial statements.

The audit committee of the board of directors is responsible for reviewing and
monitoring the Company's financial reports and accounting practices to ascertain
that they are appropriate in the circumstances. The audit committee consists of
three non-management directors and meets to discuss audit and financial reporting
matters with representatives of financial management and the independent
registered public accounting firm. The independent registered public accounting
firm has direct access to the audit committee to review the results of its
examinations, the adequacy of internal accounting controls and the quality of

financial reporting.

9, 17y
James L. Francis

President & Chief Executive Officer

Douglas W. Vicari
Executive Vice President,
Chiet Financial Officer & Treasurer




HIGHLAND HOSPITALITY CORPORATION

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors
Highland Hospitality Corporation:

We have audited management's assessment, included in the accompanying
Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, that Highland
Hospitality Corporation (the Company) maintained effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in
Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), The Company's manage-
ment is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting
and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management's assessment and

an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial

reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our
audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting,
evaluating management's assessment, testing and evaluating the design and oper-
ating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a

reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to pro-
vide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with gener-
ally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial
reporting includes those palicies and procedures that (1) pertain to the mainte-
nance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transac-
tions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assur-
ance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that
receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide rea-
sonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acqui-
sition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect

on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not
prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness
to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies

or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management's assessment that Highland Hospitality Corporation
maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2004, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on criteria established in
Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by COSQ. Also, in our opinion,
Highland Hospitality Corporation maintained, in all material respects, effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on

criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by COSCO.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standard of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets of
Highland Hospitality Corporation and subsidiaries (Successor). as of December 31,
2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stock-
holders’ equity, and cash flows for the vear ended December 31, 2004 and the
period from December 19, 2003 to December 31, 2003 (Successor periods),
and the related statements of operations, owners equity, and cash flows for the
period from January 1, 2003 to December 18, 2003 and the year ended
December 31, 2002 (Predecessor periods), and our report dated March 14,

2005, expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

KPMe LLP

McLean, Virginia
March 14, 2005
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HIGHLAND HOSPITALITY CORPORATION

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors
Highland Hospitality Corporation:

We have audited the accompariying consolidated balance sheets of Highland
Hospitality Corporation and subsidiaries (Successor) as of December 31, 2004
and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’
equity, and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2004 and the period from
December 19, 2003 to December 31, 2003 (Successor periods), and the related
statements of operations, owners' equity, and cash flows for the period from
January 1, 2003 to December 18, 2003 and the year ended December 31, 2002
(Predecessor periods). These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility
ot the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on

these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amcunts and disclosures in the financial statements.
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant esti-
mates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement

presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the aforementioned Successor consolidated financial statements
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Highland Hospitality
Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the results
of their operations and their cash flows for the Successor periods, in conformity
with US. generally accepted acaounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the afore-
mentioned Predecessor financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the results of its operations and its cash flows for the Predecessor periods, in con-

formity with US. generally accepted accounting principles.
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As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, effective
December 19, 2003, Highland Hospitality Corporation acquired all of the out-
standing equity interests of Portsmouth Hotel Associates, LLC in a business cormnbi-
nation accounted for as a reorganization of entities under common control with
respect to the interests acquired from Barcelé Crestline Corporation and acquisi-
tion of minority interests recorded at fair value from third parties. As a result of the
acquisition, the consolidated financial information for the period after the acquisition
is presented on a different cost basis than for the periods before the acquisition and,

therefore, is not comparable.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness of Highland
Hospitality Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as of December
31,2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponscring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO), and our report dated March 14, 2005, expressed an
unqualified opinion on management's assessment of, and the effective operation

of, internal control over financial reporting.

KPMc LIP

Mclean, Virginia
March 14, 2005




HIGHLAND HOSPITALITY CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,

(in thousands, except share data) 2004 2003
ASSETS
Investment in hotel properties, net $ 578,715 $ 147,562
Asset held for sale 3,000 -
Deposits on hotel property acquisitions 8,714 -
Cash and cash equivalents 75,481 225,630
Restricted cash 38,710 -
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtul accounts of $133 and $18 at

December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively 7,010 2,917
Prepaid expenses and other assets 8,279 3,379
Deferred financing costs, net of accumulated amortization of $191 at December 31, 2004 4732 -
Total assets $ 724,641 $ 379,488
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Long-term debt $ 342,854 $ -
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 17,140 6,836
Payable to affiliates - 8,832
Dividends/distributions payable 5,726 -
Other liabilities 3,122 -
Total liabilities 368,842 15,768
Minority interest in operating partnership 8,321 8,457
Commitments and contingencies (Note 14)
Preferred stock, $07 par value; 100000000 shares authorized, no shares issued at

December 31, 2004 and 2003 - -
Common stock, $01 par value; 500000000 shares authorized, 4000201 shares and

39,882,500 shares issued at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively 400 309
Additional paid-in capital 366,856 365,454
Treasury stock, at cost, 71242 shares at December 31, 2004 (801) -
Unearned compensation {6,182) (7.917)
Cumulative dividends in excess of net income (12,795) (2,673)
Total stockholders equity 347,478 355,263
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 724,641 $ 379,488

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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HIGHLAND HOSPITALITY CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND
PREDECESSOR STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Highland Hospitality The Predecessor
Highland Hospitality Period From Period From The Predecessor
Year Ended December 19,2003 to January1,2003to Year Ended
(in thousands, except per share data) December 31,2004 December 31,2003 December 18,2003 December 31,2002
REVENUE
Rooms $ 85,389 348 $ 5874 $ 6,083
Food and beverage 42,193 311 4,494 4,523
Other 5,429 24 288 275
Total revenue 133,011 683 10,656 10,881
EXPENSES
Hotel operating expenses:
Rooms 20,013 89 1,312 1,407
Food and beverage 30,402 310 3,330 3,428
Other direct 3,134 20 142 187
Indirect 47,857 341 4,326 4,160
Total hotel operating expenses 101,406 760 9,110 9,182
Depreciation and amortization 11,564 108 870 679
Corporate general and adminisirative:
Stock-based compensation 3,122 637 - -
Start-up costs - 1,951 - -
Other 6,414 306 - -
Total operating expenses 122,506 3,762 9,780 9,861
Operating income 10,605 (3,079 876 1,020
Interest income ' 1,206 65 4 17
Interest expense 8413 - 987 887
Income (loss) before minority interest in operating
partnership and income taxes 3,298 (3,014) {107) 70
Minority interest in operating partnership (102) 64 - -
Income tax benefit 1,070 277 - -
Net income (loss) $ 4266 $ (2673 § (07 $ 70
Earnings (loss) per share:
Basic 3 10 3 (.07)
Diluted 3 10 3 (.07)

The accompanying netes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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HIGHLAND HOSPITALITY CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
AND PREDECESSOR STATEMENTS OF OWNERS' EQUITY
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS AND PREDECESSOR STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Highland Hospitality The Predecessor

Highland Hospitality Period From Period From The Predecessor
Year Ended December19,2003t0  January1,2003to Year Ended
(in thousands) December 31,2004 December 31,2003  December18,2003 December 31,2002

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) $ 4,266 $ (2673 $ (107, $ 70
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash
provided by (used in) operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 11,564 108 870 679
Amortization of deferred financing costs 191 ~ 124 36
Amortization of disccunt on mortgage loan 30 - - -
Change in fair value of interest rate swap (78 . - - -
Minority interest in income of operating partnership 102 (64) - -
Stock-based comperisation 3,122 637 - -
Non-cash start-up costs - 993 - -
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable, net 1,304 (78) (576) 138
Prepaid expenses and other assets (4,066) {(1,054) (2) 4
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 7,593 1,395 (198) 2)
Payable to affiliates {(1,319) 1,304 - -
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 22,609 568 (89 880
Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisition of hotel properties, net of cash acquired (418,743) (137,934) - -
Deposits on hotel property acquisitions (8,670) ~ - -
Improvements and additions to hotel properties (6,688) - (248) {43)
Chenge in restricted cash (38,616} ~ (148) (56)
Net cash used in investing activities 470,617) (137,934) (396) (99)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from sale of common stock - 363,165 - -
Payment of issuance costs related to sale of common stock (1,893) (169) - -
Purchase of treasury stock (801 -~ - -
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 332,600 - - -
Principal payments on long-term debt (18,114) - (1686) 97)
Payment of deferred financing costs {4,923) ~ - -
Payment of dividends to stockholders (8,798) - - -
Payment of distributions to minority interests (212 - - -
Distributions to owners - - (389) (200)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 297,859 362,996 (555) (297)
Net increase (decrease) in cash (150,149) 225,830 {1,040) 484
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 225,630 - 1,719 1,235
Cash and cash equivalents, end of pericd $ 75481 $ 225,630 $ 679 $ 1,719
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest $ 8,019 $ - 3 821 $ 931
Assumption of mortgage loans related to hotel acquisitions 28,343 - - -
Assumption of interest rate swap related to hotel acquisition 948 - - -
Issuance of operating partnership units in
exchange for equity interests 125 3,725 - -
Issuance of restricted common stock to employees 1,258 6,275 - -
Issuance of restricted common stock to director - 1,750 - -
Issuance of unrestricted common stock to directors 129 - 300 - . -

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

26 HIGHLAND HOSPITALITY




HIGHLAND HOSPITALITY CORPORATION

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. ORGANIZATION AND DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Highland Hospitality Corporation (the "Company”) is a self-advised real estate
investment trust ("REIT") that was incorporated in Maryland in July 2003 to own
upscale full-service, premium limited-service, and extended stay properties located
in major convention, business, resort and airport markets in the United States and
all-inclusive resort properties in certain beachfront destinations outside of the
United States. The Company commenced cperations on December 19, 2003
when it completed its initial public offering ('IPO") and concurrently consummated

the acquisition of three hotel properties ("initial properties”).

The IPO consisted of the sale of 30000000 shares of common stock at a price
of 310 per share, resulting in gross proceeds of $300 million and net proceeds
(after deducting underwriting discounts and offering expenses) of approximately
$277 million. Concurrent with the IPO, the Company sold in private placement
transactions an aggregate of 4,550000 shares of common stock at a price per
share equal to the IPO price, less an amount equal to the underwriting discount of
$0.70 per share. The proceeds generated from the private placement transactions
were approximately $42.3 million. On December 26, 2003, the Company sold
an additional 4,500000 shares of common stock at a price of $9.30 per share,
net of the underwriting discount, as a result of the exercise of the underwriters’
over-allotment opticn, resulting in additional net proceeds of approximately $41G
million. The total net proceeds generated from the IPO, the private placement
transactions, and the exercise of the underwriters' over-allotment option was

approximately $361.2 million.

The Company contributed all of the net proceeds from the IPO, the private place-
ment transactions, and the exercise of the underwriters’ over-allotment option to
Highland Hospitality, L.P, a Delaware limited partnership (the "Operating
Partnership”), in exchange for an approximate 98% general and limited partnership
interest in the Operating Partnership. The Operating Partnership used approxi-
mately $619 million of the net proceeds from the Company, along with 967,211
units of limited partner interest, to acquire all of the equity interests in the entities that

own or lease the initial properties.

Since the IPO and the acquisition of the initial properties on December 16, 2003,
the Operating Partnership has acquired 14 hotel properties (two in December
2003 and 12 in 2004) for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $5235
million, including the assumption of mortgage debt of approximately $28.3 million,
As of December 31, 2004, the Company owned 17 hotel properties.

Substantially all of the Company's assets are held by, and all of its operations are
conducted through, the Operating Partnership. For the Company to qualify as a
REIT, it cannot operate hotels. Therefore, the Operating Partnership, which is
owned approximately 98% by the Company and approximately 2% by other limit-
ed partners, leases its hotels to subsidiaries of HHC TRS Holding Corporation
(collectively, "HHC TRS"), which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Operating
Partnership. HHC TRS then engages hotel management companies to operate the
hotels pursuant to management contracts. HHC TRS is treated as a taxable REIT

subsidiary for federal income tax purposes.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Rasis of Presentation - The Company's consolidated financial statements present-
ed herein include all of the accounts of Highland Hospitality Corporation beginning
with its commencement of operations on December 19, 2003, Prior to December
19, 2003, this report includes the financial statements of Portsmouth Hotel
Associates, LLC ("PHA"), which was one of the three entities acquired by the
Company concurrent with the completion of the IPO on December 19, 2003
PHA was owned 66.7% by Barcelé Crestline Corporation ("Barceld Crestline™),
which was the sponsor of the Company's formation and IPO. PHA is considered
the predecessor to the Company for accounting purposes. Securities and
Exchange Commission regulations require the inclusion of predecessor financial
information for the periods prior to the Company's commencement of operations,
The predecessor statements of operations and cash flows for the period from
January 1, 2003 through December 18, 2003 and the year ended December 31,
2002, include the operations of PHA on its historical cost basis.

Principles of Consolidation - The accompanying Company financial statements
include the accounts of Highland Hospitality Corporation and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in

consolidation.

Cash and Cash Equivalents - The Company considers all highly-liquid investments

with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Restricted Cash - Restricted cash includes reserves held in escrow tor hotel renc-
vations, normal replacements of furniture, fixtures and equipment, real estate taxes,
and insurance, pursuant o certain requirements in the Company's hotel manage-

ment, franchise, and loan agreements.

Derivative Instruments - The Company accounts for derivative instruments in
accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, as
amended and interpreted ("SFAS 133"). Under SFAS 133, all derivative instruments
are reguired to be recognized as either assets or liabilities in the balance sheet and
measured at fair value. Derivative instruments used to hedge the exposure to
changes in the fair value of an asset, liability, or firm commitment attributable to a
particular risk, such as interest rate risk, are considered fair value hedges. Derivative
instruments used to hedge the exposure to variability in expected future cash flows,
or other types of forecasted transactions, are considered cash flow hedges. For a
derivative instrument designated as a cash flow hedge, the change in fair value
each period is reported in accumulated other comprehensive income in stockhold-
ers equity to the extent the hedge is effective. For a derivative instrument designat-
ed as a fair value hedge, the change in fair value each period is reported in earn-
ings along with the change in fair value of the hedged item attributable to the risk
being hedged. For a derivative instrument that does not qualify for hedge account-
ing or is not designated as a hedge, the change in {air value each period is reported
in earnings. The Company does not enter into derivative instruments for specula-

tive trading purposes.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments - The Company's financial instruments include
cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable,
accrued expenses, and long-term debt. Carrying values reported in the consolidat-
ed balance sheet for cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receiv-
able, accounts payable, and accrued expenses approximate fair value due to the
short-term nature of these instruments. The carrying value reported in the consoli-
dated balance sheet for long-term debt approximates fair value as a result of all

having recently been issued or assumed and recorded at fair value at that time.

Investment in Hotel Properties - Investments in hotel properties are recorded at
acquisition cost {except where interests were acauired from Barcelé Crestline and
recorded at Barcelé Crestline's historical cost basis), and allocated to land, proper-
ty and equipment and identifiable intangible assets in accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 141, Business Combinations. Replacements
and improvements are capitalized, while repairs and maintenance are expensed as
incurred. Upon the sale or retirement of a fixed asset, the cost and related accumu-
lated depreciation are removed from the Company's accounts and any resulting

gain or loss is included in the consolidated statement of operations.

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful
lives of the assets, generally 15 to 40 years for buildings and building improvements
and three to ten years for furniture, fixtures and equipment. Leasehold improve-
ments are amortized over the shorter of the lease term or the useful lives of the

related assets.

The Company reviews its investments in hotel properties for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the hotel
properties may not be recoverable. Events or circumstances that may cause a
review include, but are not limited to, adverse changes in the demand for lodging at
the properties due to declining riational or local economic conditions and/or new
hotel construction in markets where the hotels are located. When such conditions
exist, management performs an analysis to determine if the estimated undiscounted
future cash lows from operations and the proceeds from the ultimate disposition of
a hotel property exceed its carrying value. If the estimated undiscounted future cash
flows are less than the carrying amount of the asset, an adjustment to reduce the
carrying amount to the related hotel property's estimated fair market value is
recorded and an impairment loss recognized. No impairment losses have been

recorded for the year ended December 31,2004,

The Company classifies a hotel property as held for sale in the period in which it
has made the decision to dispose of the hotel property, a binding agreement to
purchase the property has been signed under which the buyer has committed a
significant amount of nonrefundable cash, and no significant financing contingen-
cies exist which could cause the transaction not to be completed in a timely man-
ner. If these criteria are met, depreciation of the hotel property will cease and an
impairment loss will be recorded if the fair value of the hotel property, less the costs
to sell, is lower than the carrying amount of the hotel property. The Company will
classify the loss, together with the related operating results, as discontinued opera-
tions in the consolidated statement of operations and classify the assets and related

liabilities as held for sale in the consolidated balance sheet.
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Minority Interest in Operating Partnership - Certzin hotel properties have been
acquired, in part, by the Operating Partnership through the issuance of limited part-
nership units of the Operating Partnership. The minority interest in the Operating
Partnership is: (i) increased or decreased by the limited partners’ pro-rata share of
the Operating Partnership’s net income or net loss, respectively; (i} decreased by
distributions; (iii) decreased by redemption of partrership units for the Company's
common stock; and (iv) adjusted to equal the net equity of the Operating
Partnership multiplied by the limited partners’ ownership percentage immediately
after each issuance of units of the Operating Partnership and/or the Company's
common stock through an adjustment to additiona! paid-in capital. Net income or
net loss is allocated to the minority interest in the Operating Partnership based on

the weighted average percentage ownership throughout the period.

Revenue Recognition - Revenues from operations of the hotels are recognized
when the services are provided. Revenues consist of room sales, food and beverage

sales, and other hotel department reveriues, such as telephone and gift shop sales,

Deferred Financing Costs - Deferred financing costs are recorded at cost and
consist of loan fees and other costs incurred in issuing debt. Amortization of
deferred financing costs is computed using a method that approximates the effec-
tive interest method over the term of the related debt and is included in interest

expense in the consolidated staternent of operations,

Debt Discounts or Premiums - Debt assumed in connection with hotel property
acquisitions Is recorded at fair value at the acquisition date and any resulting dis-
count or premium is amortized through interest expense in the consolidated state-

ment of operations over the remaining term of the debt.

Income Taxes - The Company has elected to be taxed as a REIT under Sections
856 through 860 of the Internal Revenue Code. As a REIT, the Company gener-
ally will net be subject to federal income tax on that portion of its net income (loss)
that does not relate to HHC TRS, the Company's wholly-owned taxable REIT
subsidiary. HHC TRS, which leases the Company's hotels from the Operating

Partnership, is subject to federal and state income taxes.

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with the provisions of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, Accounting for Income
Taxes ("SFAS 109"). Under SFAS 109, the Company accounts for income taxes
using the asset and liability method under which deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between
the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their
respective tax bases. Valuation allowances are provided if based upon the weight of
the available evidence, it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax

assets will not be realized.

PHA operated as a limited liability company and, as a result, was not subject to fed-
eral or state income taxation. Accordingly, no provision was made for federal or

state income taxes in the predecessor financial staterments,

Earnings (Loss) Per Share - Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated by divid-
ing net income (loss), less dividends on unvested restricted commen stock, by the

weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period.




Diluted earnings (Ioss) per share is calculated by dividing net income (loss), less
dividends on unvested restricted common stock, by the weighted average number
of common shares outstanding during the period, plus other potentially dilutive
securities, such as unvested shares of restricted common stock and warrants. The
outstanding Operating Partnership units (which may be converted to common
shares) have been excluded from the diluted earnings (loss) per share calculation,

as there would be no effect on reported diluted earnings (loss) per share.

Stock-based Compensation - The Company accounts for stock-based employee
compensation using the fair value based method of accounting described in
Staternent of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, Accounting for Stock-based
Compensation, as amended. For restricted stock awards, the Company records
unearned compensation equal to the number of shares awarded multiplied by the
average price of the Company's common stock on the date of the award, less the

purchase price for the stock, if any. Unearned compensation is amortized using the

straight-line method over the period in which the restrictions lapse (i.e, vesting period).

For unrestricted stock awards, the Company records compensation expense on
the date of the award equal to the number of shares awarded multiplied by the
average price of the Company's common stock on the date of the award, less the

purchase price for the stock, if any.

Comprehensive Income (Loss) - Comprehensive income (loss), as defined,
includes all changes in equity (net assets) during a period from non-owner sources.
The Company does not have any items of comprehensive income (loss) other than

net income (loss).

Treasury Stock - The Company records treasury stock purchases under the cost

method whereby the entire cost of the acquired stock is recorded as treasury stock.

Segment Information ~ Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 13,
Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information ("SFAS13Y),
requires public entities to report certain information about operating segments.
Based on the guidance provided in SFAS 131, the Company has determined that its

business is conducted in one reportable segment, hotel ownership.

Use of Estimates - The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
ot assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and ligbilities at the date
of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses

during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Reclassifications - Certain reclassifications have been made to the predecessor

financial statements to conform to the Company's presentation.

New Accounting Pronouncements - Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment ("SFAS 123R"), requires that the
cost resulting from all share-based payment transactions be recognized in the
financial statements. The staterent requires a public entity to measure the cost of
employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based
on the grant-date fair value of the award (with limited exceptions). That cost will be

recognized over the period during which an employes is required to provide service

in exchange for the award. No compensation cost is recognized for eguity instru-
ments for which employees do not render the requisite service. The provisions of
SFAS 123R will be effective as of July 1, 2005, Since the Company currently uses
the fair value method of accounting for stock-based compensation, the adoption of
SFAS 123R is not expected to have a material effect on the Company's results of

operations, financial position, or cash flows.

FASB Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an
Interpretation of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51 as amended ("FIN 46R"),
requires certain variable interest entities to be consolidated by the primary benefici-
ary of the entity if the equity investors in the entity do not have the characteristics of
a controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk for the entity to
finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other
parties. The adoption of FIN 46R did not have a material impact on the Company's

results of operations, financial position, or cash flows.

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 150, Accounting for Certain
Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity ("SFAS
150", clarifies the accounting for certain financial instruments with characteristics of
both liabilities and equity and requires that those instruments be classified as liabili-
ties in statements of financial position. Previously, many of these financial instruments
were classified as equity. The adoption of SFAS 150 did not have a material impact

on the Company's results of operations, financial position, or cash flows.

3. ACQUISITION OF HOTEL PROPERTIES

On December 19, 2003, concurrent with the completion of the IPO, the
Company acquired 100% of the equity interests in PHA, A/H-BCC Virginia
Beach Hotel, LLC, and Sugar Land Hotel Associates, LP. Barcelé Crestline, which
was the sponsor of the Company's formation and IPO, had a 66.7% interest in
PHA, a 50% interest in A/H-BCC Virginia Beach Hotel, LLC, and an 80% inter-
est in Sugar Land Hotel Associates, L.P. The equity interests in PHA, A/H-BCC
Virginia Beach Hotel, LLC, and Sugar Land Hotel Associates, L.P. acquired from
Barcels Crestline, as the Company's sponser, in exchange for Operating
Partnership units have been accounted for as a reorganization of entities under
common control and recorded at Barcelé Crestline's historical cost basis. The
remaining equity interests in PHA, A/H-BCC Virginia Beach Hotel, LLC, and
Sugar Land Hotel Associates, |.P. acquired from third parties have been accounted

for as acquisitions of minority interests and recorded at fair value.

PHA has an agreement with the Industrial Developrent Authority of the City of
Portsmouth to lease the 249-room Portsmouth Renaissance hotel and adjoining
conference center located in Portsmouth, Virginia for an initial term of 50 years
ending May 2049, with four ten-year renewal options and one nine-year renewal
option. PHA was acquired for approsimately $13.0 million, which included the
repayment of a mortgage loan which encumbered the hotel property of approxi-
mately $119 million and the issuance of 34452 and 185483 Operating
Partnership units to Barcelé Crestline and the third-party member, respectively, val-
ued at approximately $11 million. The Company entered into a long-term agree-

ment with Crestline Hotels & Rescrts, Inc. to manage the hotel property.
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A/H-BCC Virginia Beach Hotel, LLC, which owned the 176-room Hilton Garden
Inn Virginia Beach Town Center hotel located in Virginia Beach, Virginia, was
acquired for approximately $20.0 million, which included the repayment of a con-
struction loan which encumbered the hotel property of approximately $17.5 million
and the issuance of 142,688 Operating Partnership units to both Barceld Crestline
and the third-party member, valued at approximately $2.5 million. In addition, the
Company has agreed to pay the third-party member additional purchase consid-
eration if the Hilton Garden Inn Virginia Beach Town Center hotel exceeds certain
agreed-upon operating results during the second 12-month period or third 12-
month period following the opening date of the hotel. The additional purchase con-
sideration will be paid in the form of Operating Partnership units equal to the
amount of the additional purchase consideration divided by the average closing
price of the Company's common stock for the ten trading days immediately pre-
ceding the calculation date. The Company entered into a long-term agréement

with Crestline Hotels & Resorts, Inc. to manage the hotel property.

Sugar Land Hotel Associates, L.P, which owned the 300-room Sugar Land
Marriott hotel located in Sugar Land, Texas, was acquired for approximately $32.6
million, which included the repayment of & construction loan which encumbered
the hotel property and a mezzanine loan in an aggregate amount of approximately
$297 million, and the issuance of 43,010 and 109190 Operating Partnership units
to Barceld Crestline and the third-party member, respectively, valued at approxi-
mately $0.3 million. Sugar Land Hotel Associates, LP. also had an agreement with
the Sugar Land Development Authority to lease a conference center and parking
facility adjoining the Sugar Land Marriott hotel for a term of 99 years ending
October 2102. In addition, the Company has agreed to pay Barcelé Crestline up
to $1.8 million as additional purchase consideration if the Sugar Land Marriott hotel
exceeds certain agreed-upon operating results over the 36-month period follow-
ing the Company's acquisition of the hotel. The additional purchase consideration
will be paid in the form of Operzting Partnership units equal to the amount of the
additional purchase consideration divided by the average closing price of the
Company's common stock for the twenty trading days immediately prior to the end
of the 36-month pericd. The Company entered into a long-term agreement with

Crestline Hotels & Resorts, inc. to manage the hotel property.

On December 29, 2003, the Company acquired the 252-room Plaza San
Antonio Marrictt hotel located in San Antonio, Texas for approximately $32.7 mil-
lion. The Company entered into a long-term agreement with Crestline Hotels &

Resorts, Inc. to manage the hotel property.

On December 30, 2003, the Company acquired the 347 -room Hyatt Regency
Savannah hotel.located in Savannah, Georgia for approximately $492 million. The
Company assumed the existing long-term agreement with Hyatt Corporation to

manage the hotel property.

On January 8, 2004, the Company acquired the 238-room Hilton Tampa
Westshore hotel located in Tamga, Florida for approximately $30.2 million, which
included the assumption of mortgage debt that encumbers the hotel property of

$17 million. On January 12, 2004, the Company acquired the 158-room Hilton
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Garden Inn Battimore/Washington International (BWI) Airport hotel located in
Linthicum, Maryland for approximately $22.7 million. The Company entered into
long-term agreements with Crestline Hotels & Resorts, Inc. to manage the two

hotel properties.

On May 10, 2004, the Company acquired the 491-room Dallas/Fort Worth
Airport Marriott hote! located in Dallas/Fort Worth, Texas for approximately $596
million. The Company assumed the existing long-term agreement with Marriott

International, Inc. to manage the hotel property.

On August 2, 2004, the Company acquired the 156-room Courtyard Savannah
Historic District hotel in Savannah, Georgia and the 109-room Residence Inn
Tampa Downtown hotel in Tampa, Florida for approximately $38.5 million. The
Company entered intc long-term agreements with McKibbon Hotel Management,

Inc. to manage the two hotel properties.

On August 18, 2004, the Company acquired a four-hotel portfolio, consisting of
the 510-room Hilton Parsippany hotel in Parsippany, New Jersey, the 495-rcom
Crowne Plaza Atlanta-Ravinia hotel in Atlanta, Gecrgia, the 360-room Wyndham
Wind Watch hotel in Hauppauge, New York, and the 322-room Tremont Boston
hotel in Boston, Massachusetts, for approximately $229 million. The acquisition
was partially funded with & $160 million financing, comprised of a $135 miltion
mortgage loan and & $25 milion mezzanine loan. The loan provider required that
the Company depaosit $27.5 million in an escrow account, which amount will be

used to renovate the hotel properties,

The Company entered into long-term agreements with Crestline Hotels & Resorts,
lnc. to manage the Hitton Parsippany hotel and the Crowne Plaza Atlanta-Ravinia
hotel. The Company converted the Wyndham Wind Watch hotel to the Hyatt
Regency brand and entered into a long-term agreement with Hyatt Corporation to
manage the hotel property. The Company converted the Tremont Boston hotel to
the Courtyard brand and entered into & long-term agreement with Marriott

International, Inc. to manage the hotel property.

On September 1, 2004, the Company acquired the 283-room Radisson Mount
Laure! hotel for approximately $14.5 million, The Company entered into a long-

term agreement with Sage Hospitality Resources to manage the hotel property.

On September 15, 2004, the Company acquired the 299-room Omaha Marriott
hotel for approximately $291 million. The Company entered into a long-term

agreement with Crestline Hotels & Resorts, Inc. to manage the hotel property.

On September 17, 2004, the Company acquired the 202-room Courtyard
Denver Airport hotel for approximately $181 million, which included the assumption
of mortgage debt that encumbers the hotel property of approximately $11.3 million,
net of discount, The Company assumed the existing long-term agreement with

Mearriott International, Inc. to manage the hotel property.




The combined allocation of the purchase prices to the acquired assets and liabilities

‘based on their fair values was as follows (in thousands):

On June 30, 2004, the Company signed a definitive agreement with a hotel
developer to purchase upon completion the 210-room Courtyard Gaithersburg
Washingtonian Center hotel in Gaithersburg, Maryland. The purchase price for the

2004 2003 hotel property is $29 million. The Company was required to deposit $8 million in
- Acquisitions Acquisitions an escrow account, which amount will be credited against the purchase price at
Larjd‘and land improvements § 54918 $ 1239 closing or returned to the Company should the hotel developer fail to satisfy its
Buildings and leasehold o o ‘ .
mproverents 364,544 126,460 obligations pursuant to the definitive agreement. Construction of the hotel is sched-
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 16,503 11,082 uled to be completed at the beginning of 2006.
Accumulated depreciation
and amortization - (2,380) 4. INVESTMENT IN HOTEL PROPERTIES
Asset held for sale 3,000 -
Cash 230 808 Investment in hotel properties as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 consisted of
Restricted cash 194 - the following (in thousands):
Accounts receivable, net 5,392 2,839
Prepaid assets and other assets 2174 707 December 31,
Accounts payable and 2004 2003
accrued expenses (3,724) (4,50€) Land and land improvements & 67314 $ 12,396
Other liabilities {2,598) - Buildings and leasehold improvements 491,537 126,287
Mortgage loans (28,343) - Furniture, fixtures and equipment 29,336 11,265
Net assets acquired $ 412,202 $ 147,533 Construction-in-progress 4,550 72
582,737 160,020
Less: accumulated depreciation
The results of operations for each of the hotel properties are included in the and amortization (14,022) (2,458)
Company's consclidated statements of operations from their respective acquisition $ 578715 $ 147,562

dates. The following pro forma financial information presents the results of opera-
tions of the Company for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 as if the
12 hotel acquisitions that occurred in 2004, as well as the five hotel property acqui-
sitions that occurred in December 2003, had taken place on January 1, 2003, The
pro forma results have been prepared for comparative purposes only and do not
purport to be indicative of the results of operations which would have actually
occurred had the transactions taken place on January 1, 2003, or of future results
of operations. No pro forma adjustments have been made for the Hilton Tampa
Westshore hotel or the Hilton Garden Inn BWI Airport hotel for the year ended
December 31, 2004, as the acquisitions occurred near the beginning of the year

(in thousands, except per share data).

(unaudited)

Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 %=
Total revenue $ 216,536 $ 201,029
Total operating expenses 180,218 184,649
Operating income 26,318 16,380
Net income (loss) 8,624 (3,400)
Earnings (loss) per share:

Basic and diluted 22 (.09

®  The Sugar Land Marriott hotel and Hilton Garden Inn Virginia Beach hotel did not open for business
untit October 2003 and November 2003, respectively. Included in the pro forma resilts for the year

ended December 31, 2003 related to these two hotels was pre-opening expenses of approximately
$2.3 million.

@ included in the pro forma results for the year ended December 31, 2003 was approximately $2 million
of start-up costs.

5. ASSET HELD FOR SALE

In connection with the acquisition of the Hyatt Regency Wind Watch Long Island
hotel, the Company assumed a definitive agreement to sell a parcel of vacant land,
which is adjacent to the hotel, for $3.0 million. The proceeds, less brokerage com-
missions and other transaction costs, from the sale will be split evenly between the
Company and the seller of the Hyatt Regency Wind Watch Long Island hotel. As of
December 31, 2004, included in other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet

was approximately $14 million, which is an estimate of the amount due to the seller

6. LONG-TERM DEBT
Highland Hospitality - On January 8, 2004, in connection with the Hilton Tampa

Westshore hotel acquisition, the Company assumed a $17 million mortgage loan
that encumbered the hotel property. The loan bere a fixed annual interest rate of
79% and was scheduled to mature on July 1, 2005. On December 1, 2004, the
Company refinanced the assumed loan with a $176 million mortgage loan. The
new mortgage loan bears a fixed annual interest rate of 5.7% and matures on
December 1, 2014, Principal payments commenced in December 2004 and are
based on a 30-year amortization period. In addition, the loan agreement contains a
restrictive provision that requires the loan servicer to retain in escrow excess cash
flow from the encumbered hotel property if net cash flow, as defined, for the trailing

twelve months declines below a specified level.
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On July 9, 2004, the Company completed a $67 million financing, secured by the
Hyatt Regency Savannah hotel, the Portsmouth Renaissance hotel and conference
center, and the Hilton Garden Inn BWI Airport hotel. The loan bears a fixed annual
interest rate of 6.47% and matures on July 11, 2011, For the period from August
2004 through July 2005, the loan agreement provides for monthly interest-only
payments. Principal payments will commence in August 2005 and will be based
on a 25-year amortization period. The loan agreement contains standard provi-
sions that reguire the loan servicer to maintain escrow accounts over the term of
the loan for certain items, including hotel capital improvements, ground rent, real
estate taxes and insurance. In addition, the loan agreement contains a restrictive
provision that requires the loan servicer to retain in escrow excess cash flow from
the encumbered hotel properties if net cash flow, as defined, for the trailing twelve

months declines below a specified level,

On August 19, 2004, in connection with the acquisttion of the Hilton Parsippany
hotel, the Crowne Plaza Atlanta-Ravinia hotel, the Hyatt Regency Wind Watch
Long Island hotel, and the Courtyard Boston Tremont hotel, the Company com-
pleted & $160 million financing, comprised of a $135 million mortgage loan and a
$25 million mezzanine loan. The $135 million mortgage loan is secured by the four
hotel properties. The $25 million mezzanine loan is secured by equity interests in
the Company's subsidiary that is the borrower under the $135 million mortgage
loan. The financing bears interest at a fixed, annual, blended rate of 6.65% and
matures on September 1, 2011 Principal payments commenced in September
2004 and are based on a 25-year amortization period. The loan agreements con-
tain standard provisions that require the loan servicer to maintain escrow accounts
over the terms of the loans for certain items, including hotel capital improvements
and real estate taxes. In addition, the loan agreemenbts contain a restrictive provision
that requires the loan servicer to retain in escrow excess cash flow from the encum-
bered hotel properties if net cash flow, as defined, for the traifing twelve months

declines below a specified level.

On September 9, 2004, the Company completed a $38 million financing,
secured by the Dallas/Fort Worth Airport Marriott hotel. The loan bears a fixed
annual interest rate of 5.8% and matures on October 1, 2011, Principal payments
commenced in October 2004 and are based on a 25-year amortization period,
The loan agreement contains a standard provision that requires the loan servicer to

maintain an escrow account over the term of the loan for real estate taxes.

On September 17, 2004, in connection with the Courtyard Denver Airport hotel
acquisition, the Company assumed an $11.3 million, net of discount of $0.3 million,
mortgage loan that encumbers the hotel property. The loan bears an interest rate of
LIBOR, plus 175%, and matures on November 1, 2008, The loan agreement pro-
vides for monthly principal and interest payments, with principal payments being
based on a 20-year amortization pericd. The Company also assumed an interest
rate swap agreement that fixes the interest rate on the mortgage loan to an annual

rate of 7.34%.
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On December 22, 2004, the Company completed & $100 million term loan facili-
ty. The facllity is secured by the following seven hotel properties: the Sugar Land
Marriott hotel and conference center, the Hilton Garden Inn Virginia Beach Town
Center hotel, the Plaza San Antonio Marrictt hotel, the Radisson Mount Laurel
hotel, the Omaha Marrictt hotel, the Residence Inn Tampa Downtown hotel, and
the Courtyard Savannah Historic District hotel. The Company is currently entitled
1o borrow up to 390 million under the facility. An additional $10 million will become
available once the seven hotel properties have exceeded a debt service coverage
ratio set forth in the facility agreement, In addition, the facility could be increased up
to a maximum borrowing of $150 million should the Company elect to pledge
other unencumbered hotel properties to secure the facllity. The facility matures on
December 21, 2007 and has a one-year extension option. The facility bears inter-
est at the Company's election of either (a) LIBOR, plus 2.5%, or (b) the greater of
(i) the prime rate, plus 0.5% and (i) the federal funds rate, plus 15%. The facility
agreement contains a financial covenant that requires the Company to maintain a
specified debt service coverage ratio for the seven hotel properties. As of
December 31, 2004, the Company had drawn down $50 million under the facility.

As of December 31, 2004, the Company was in compliance with the financial
covenants set forth in its loan agreements. The following details the Company's
long-term debt as of December 31, 2004 (in thousands);

Principal
Balance
Encumbered December 31,
Hotels Interest Rate Maturity 2004
July
Mortgage loan 3 hotels 8.47% Fixed 2011 $ 67,000
September
Mortgage loan 4 hotels 6.00% Fixed 2011 134,266
October
Mortgage loan 1 hotel 5.80% Fixed 2011 37,830
November
Mortgage loan @ 1hotel LIBOR+1.75% Veriable 2008 11,531
December
Mortgage loan 1 hotel 5.70% Fixed 2014 17,584
September
Mezzanine loan® None 10.14% Fixed 2011 24,920
December
Term loan facility 7hotels  LIBOR+250% Variable 2007 50,000
343,131
Unamortized
discount (277)
$ 342854

M The Company issued this mortgage loan and mezzanine loan in conjunction with the acquisition of a
{our-hotel porticlio. The financing bears interest at a fixed, annual, blended rated of 6.65%.

@ The Company assumed this mortgage loan along with an interest rate swap (see Note 7) that fixes the
interest rate on the mortgage loan to an annual rate of 734%




As of December 31, 2004, the Company's weighted average interest rate on
its long-term debt was 6.3%. Future scheduled principal payments of debt

obligations as of December 31, 2004 are as follows (in thousands):

Year Amounts
2005 5 4177
2006 5113
2007 55,458
2008 15,712
2009 5,734
Thereafter 256,937
$ 343131

The Predecessor - On May 24,1999, PHA cbtained a mortgage loan in the
amount of $12.6 million to fund the construction of leasehold improvements at the
Portsmouth Renaissance hotel. The loan was secured by the Portsmouth
Renaissance hotel and its maturity date was June 1, 2006. Loan principal and interest
payments were due monthly, with principal payments commencing on July 1, 2002
and interest payments commencing on July 1 1999 Interest was based on a vari-
able rate equal to the six-month LIBOR rate as of the first day of every six-month
period plus 3.5% through June 1, 2002. Subseguent to June 1, 2002, interest was
based on a variable rate equat to the six-month LIBOR rate as of the first day of
every six-month pericd plus 3.25%. At no time could the interest rate be less than
7%, and during any six-month interest period, the interest rate could not be adjust-
ed by more than 1%. PHA recorded deferred financing costs of approximately

$0.3 million related to obtaining the mortgage loan.

On December 10, 2003, in connection with the Company's acquisition of the equity
interests in PHA, the outstanding loan balance of approximately $119 million was repaid
in full. The remaining unamortized deferred financing costs at that time were written off

and are included in interest expense in the predecessor statements of operations.

7. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENT

On September 17, 2004, in connection with the Courtyard Denver Airport hotel
acquisition, the Company assumed an interest rate swap agreement that fixes the
interest rate on a related assumed mortgage loan to an annual rate of 734%. The
swap agreement terminates on November 1, 2008 and has an adjusting notional
amount equal to the outstanding loan principal balance. The fair value of the interest
rate swap of $09 million was recorded in other liabilities in the consclidated bal-
ance sheet. As the interest rate swap was not designated as a hedge, the change in
fair value each period is recorded in interest expense in the consolidated statement
of operations. As of December 31, 2004, the Company had no other derivative

instruments,

8. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following is a reconciliation of the amounts used in calculating basic and diluted

earnings per share (in thousands, except share and per share data):

Period From

Year Ended December 19,2003
December 31,2004  toDecember 31,2003
Numerator:
Net income (loss) 3 4,266 $ (2,673)
Less: dividends on unvested
restricted common stock (288) -
Net income (loss) atter dividends on
unvested restricted common stock 3 3,978 3 (2,673)
Denominator:
Weighted average number of
commeon shares outstanding-basic 39,093,691 36,656,923
Effect of dilutive securities:
Unvested restricted common stock 215,541 -
Warrants 91,964 -
Weighted average number of
common shares outstanding-diluted 38,401,186 36,656,923
Earnings (loss) per share:
Basic $ 10 3 (07)
Diluted $ 10 3 (07

9. CASH DISTRIBUTIONS

On June 17,2004, the Company's board of directors declared a cash distribution
to stockholders of the Company and partners of the Operating Partnership of
record as of June 30, 2004. The cash distribution of $13 per common share and
partnership unit was paid on July 15, 2004.

On September 14, 2004, the Company's board of directors declared a cash distri-
bution to stockholders of the Company and partners of the Operating Partnership
of record as of September 30, 2004. The cash distribution of $09 per common
share and partnership unit was paid on October 15, 2004.

On December 15, 2004, the Company's board of directors declared a cash distri-
bution to stockholders of the Company and partners of the Operating Partnership
of record as of December 31, 2004. The cash distribution of $14 per common
share and partnership unit was paid on January 14, 2005,

10. CAPITAL STOCK

Common Shares - The Company is authorized to issue up to 500000000
shares of common stock, $01 par value per share. Each outstanding share of
common stock entitles the holder to one vote on all matters submitted to & vote
of stockholders. Holders of the Company's common stock are entitled to receive
distributions when authorized by the Company’s board of directors out of assets

legally available for the payment of distributions.
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On December 19, 2003, the Company completed its IPO and sold 30000000
shares of common stock at a price of $10 per share, resulting in gross proceeds of
$300 million and net proceeds (after deducting underwriting discounts and offer-
ing expenses) of approximately $277 million. Concurrent with the IPO, the
Company sold in private placement transactions an aggregate of 4550000
shares of common stock at a price per share equal to the IPO price, less an
amount equal to the underwriting discount of $0.70 per share. The proceeds gen-
erated from the private placement transactions were approximately $42.3 million.
On December 26, 2003, the Company sold an additional 4,500,000 shares of
common stock at a price of $3.30 per share, net of the underwriting discount, as a
result of the exercise of the underwriters over-allotment option, resulting in addi-
tional net proceeds of approximaiely $419 million. The total net proceeds generat-
ed from the IPO, the private placement transactions, and the exercise of the under-

writers’ over-allotment was approximately $361.2 million,

For the period from December 19, 2003 through December 31, 2003 and the year
ended Decemnber 31, 2004, the Company issued 832,500 shares and 119,511 shares,
respectively, of common stock to its employees and directors. As of December 31,
2004, the Company had 393930769 shares of common stock outstanding.

Treasury Stock - In December 2004, the Company purchased 71,242 shares of
commen stock from employees to satisfy the minimum statutory tax withholding

requirements related to the vesting of their shares of restricted common stock.

Warrants - In connection with the PO, the Company granted to its underwriters,
as partial consideration for its services, warrants representing the right to acquire
888488 shares of common stock. The warrants are exercisable for a period of
five years commencing December 19, 2003 at an exercise price of $10 per share.
The Company has reserved 888 488 shares of common stock for issuance upon

exercise of the warrants.

Preferred Shares - The Company is authorized to issue up to 100000000
shares of preferred stock, $.01 par value per share. The Company's board of direc-
tors is required to set for each class or series of preferred stock the terms, prefer-
ences, conversion or other rights, voting powers, restrictions, limitations as to divi-
dends or other distributions, qualifications, and terms or conditions of redemption.

As of December 31, 2004, there were no shares of preferred stock outstanding.

Operating Partnership Units - Holders of Operating Partnership units have certain
redemption rights, which enable them to cause the Operating Partnership to
redeem their units in exchange for shares of the Company's common stock on a
one-for-one basis o, at the option of the Company, cash per unit equal to the
market price of the Company's common stock at the time of redemption. The
number of shares issuable upon exercise of the redemption rights will be adjusted
upon the occurrence of stock splits, mergers, consolidations or similar pro-rata
share transactions, which otherwise would have the effect of diluting the ownership
interests of the limited partners or the stockholders of the Company. As of
December 31, 2004, the total nurnber of Operating Partnership units cutstanding
was 967211
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Universal Shelf - On December 16, 2004, the Company filed a Form S-3 regis-
tration staterment with the Securities and Exchange Commission to register equity
securities with a maximum aggregate offering price of up to $500 million, The

registration statement was declared effective by the Securities and Exchange

Commission on December 30, 2004,

1. STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN
In December 2003, the Company established the 2003 Ormnibus Stock

Incentive Plan (the "Plan”), which authorizes the issuance of options to purchase
shares of common stock and the grant of stock awards, stock appreciation rights,
deferred shares, performance shares and performance units. Employees and
directors of the Company and other persons that provide consulting services to
the Company are eligible to participate in the Plan. The Company’s compensation
policy committee of the board of directors administers the Plan and determines the

numbers of awards to be granted, the vesting period, and the exercise price, if any.

The Plan provides for the grant of incentive stock options and non-qualified stock
options. Incentive stock options may only be granted to persons who are employees
of the Company. The exercise price for granted options cannot be less than the fair
market value of the Company's common stock on the date the option is granted,
and in the event a participant is deemed to be a 10% or more owner of the
Company, the exercise price of an incentive stock option cannot be less than 110%
of the fair market value of the Company's common stock on the date the option is
granted. No participant may be granted incentive stock options that are exercisable
for the first time in any calendar year for common stock having a total fair market
value (determined as of the option grant), in excess of $100000. As of December
31,2004, no stock options had been granted under the Plan.

The Plan also provides for the grant of stock awards. A stock award may be subject
to payment by the participant of a purchase price for shares of common stock sub-
ject to a stock award, and a stock award may be subject to vesting requirements or
transfer restrictions or both as determined by the compensation policy committee
of the board of directors. Those conditions may include, for example, a requirement
that the participant complete a specified period of service or that certain perform-
ance objectives be achieved. Transfer of the shares of common stock subject to a

stock award normally will be restricted prior to vesting.

Concurrent with the Company's IPO, the Company's executives were issued
802,500 shares of restricted common stock, which did not require payments by
the executives. Subject to continued employment with the Company, the restrictions
on the executives' shares lapse at the rate of one-third of the number of restricted
shares per year commencing on the first anniversary of their issuance. The
Company recorded unearned compensation of approximately $8 million and is
amortizing the unearned compensation over the 36-month period commencing
on the date of the issuance. Also concurrent with the Company's PO, the
Company's directors were issued 30000 shares of unrestricted common stock,

which did not require payments by the directors and vested immediately.




During the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company issued 107500 shares
of restricted common stock to certain employees, which did not require payments
by the employees. Subject to continued employment with the Company, the
restrictions on the employees shares lapse at the rate of one-third of the number of
restricted shares per year commencing on the first anniversary of their issuance.
The Company recorded unearned compensation of approximately $1.3 million and
is amortizing the unearned compensation over the 36-month period commencing
on the date of the issuance. Also during the year ended December 31, 2004, the
Company's directors were issued 12000 shares of unrestricted common stock,

which did not require payments by the directors and vested immediately.

Under the Plan, the maximum number of shares of commen stock that may be
subject to stock options, stock awards, deferred shares or performance shares and
covered by stock appreciation rights is 2,002,000 shares. No one participant may
receive awards for more than 500000 shares of common stock in any one calen-
dar year. The maximum number of performance units that may be granted to a
participant in any one calendar year is 750000 for each full or fractional year
included in the performance period for the award granted during the calendar year
These limitations, and the terms of outstanding awards, will be adjusted without the
approval of the Company's stockholders as the compensation policy committee of
the board of directors determines is appropriate in the event of a stock dividend,
stock split, reclassification of stock or similar events. if an award terminates, expires,
is forfeited or becomes unexercisable, the shares of common stock subject to such
award become available for future awards under the Plan. In addition, shares which
are issued under any type of award under the Plan and which are repurchased or
reacquired by the Company at the original purchase price for such shares also
become available for future awards under the Plan. As of December 31, 2004,
1049989 shares of commen stock were reserved and available for distribution

under the Plan.

The board of directors may amend or terminate the Plan at any time, but an amend-
ment will not become effective without the approval of the Company's stockholders
(within 12 months of the date such amendment is adopted by the board of directors)
if it increases the aggregate number of shares of common stock that may be issued
under the Plan. No amendment or termination of the Plan will aHfect a participant's

rights under outstanding awards without the participant's consent,

12. INCOME TAXES

The Company has elected to be taxed as a REIT under Sections 856 through
860 of the Internal Revenue Code. To qualify as a REIT, the Company must meet a
number of organizational and operational requirements, including a requirement
that it currently distribute at least 90% of its taxable income (excluding net capital
gains) to its stockholders. As a REIT, the Company generally will not be subject to
federal income tax on that portion of its net income (loss) that does not relate to
HHC TRS, the Company's wholly-owned taxable REIT subsidiary. HHC TRS,
which leases the Company's hotels from the Operating Partnershig, is subject to

federal, state and local income taxes.

The components of income tax benefit for the year ended December 31, 2004
and the period from December 18, 2003 through December 31, 2003 are as

follows (in thousands):

Period From
Year Ended December 19,2003
December 31,2004 to December 31,2003
Deferred:
Federal $ (901 3 (238)
State (169) (39)
Income tax benefit $ (1,070 $ 277)

A reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax expense (benefit) to the -

Company's income tax expense (benefit) is as follows (in thousands):

Period From
Year Ended December 19,2003
December 31,2004 to December 31,2003

Statutory federal

income tax

expense (benefit) $ 1121 $(1,025)
EHfect of non-taxable

REIT loss (income) 2,079 675
State income tax

expense (benefit),

net of federal benefit (112) (26)
Effect of non-deductible

start-up costs - 29
Income tax expense

{benetit) $ (1,070 $ (277

The tax effect of each type of temporary difference and carryforward that gives rise
1o the deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31 2004 and 2003 are as

follows (in thousands):

December 31,

2004 2003

Deferred tax assets:
Employee-related compensation $ 113 $ 34
Start-up costs 86 109
Net operating loss carryforwards 1,613 219
Other 14 _
1,726 362

Deferred tax liability:
Investment in hotel properties 474 180
474 180
Net deferred tax asset $ 1,252 $ 182
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As of December 31, 2004, the Company had a net deferred tax asset of $1.3
million, primarily due to tax net operating losses, These loss carryforwards wil
begin to expire in 2023 if not utilized by then. The Company believes that it is
more likely than not that HHC TRS will generate sufficient taxable income to realize

infull this deferred tax asset. Accordingly, no valuation allowance has been recorded

at December 31, 2004.

PHA operated as a limited liability company and, as & result, was not subject to
federal or state income taxation. Accordingly, no provision was made for federal

or state income taxes in the predecessor financial statements.

13. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The third-party member, other than Barceld Crestline, of PHA and Sugar Land
Hotel Associates, L P. was the developer of the Sugar Land Marriott hotel. The
Company issued 294,673 Operating Partnership units to the third-party member
in exchange for its equity interests in the two entities. As of December 31, 2003,
included in payable to affiliates in the consolidated balance sheet was approximate-

ly $2.6 million for construction costs related to the Sugar Land Marrictt hotel

As of December 31, 2004, Barcelé Crestline, which was the sponsor of the
Company's formation and IPO, owned approximately 3% of Company's outstand-
ing common stock and 529,850 Operating Partnership units. The following is a

summary of the transactions between the Company and Barceld Crestline:

Repayments to Barcelé Crestline - At December 31, 2003, included in payable to
affiliates in the consolidated balance sheet was approximately $6.2 million for
start-up costs and hotel acquisition costs that had been paid by Barcelé Crestline

on the Company's behalf since the Company's formation.

Sale of Common Stock - Concurrent with the IPO, Barceld Crestline acquired
1250000 shares of common stock at a price per share equal to the IPO price,
less an amount equal to the underwriting discount of $0.70 per share, resulting in

proceeds of approximately $116 million.

Acquisition of Hotel Properties - Barcelé Crestline had an equity interest in PHA,
Sugar Land Hotel Associates, L.P, and A/H-BCC Virginia Beach Hotel, LLC,
which were the three entities that the Company acquired on December 19, 2003,
The Company issued 529,850 Operating Partnership units to Barceld Crestline in

exchange for its equity interests in the three entities.

Strategic Alliance Agreement - On December 19, 2003, the Company entered
into a seven-year strategic alliarice agreement with Barceld Crestline pursuant to
which (i) Barcelé Crestline agrees to refer to the Company (on an exclusive basis)
hotel acquisition opportunities in the United States presented to Barceld Crestline
or its subsidiaries other than opportunities that primarily relate to third-party man-
agement arrangements offered to Barceld Crestline, and (i) the Company agrees
to offer Barceld Crestline or its subsidiaries the right to manage hotel properties
that the Company acquires in the United States, unless () a majerity of the

Company's independent directors in good faith concludes for valid business
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reasons that another management company should manage the acquired hotel, or
{b) the hotel is encumbered by a management agreement that would extend
beyond the date of the Company's acquisition of the hotel and a termination fee is
payable to terminate the existing management agreement (unless Barceld Crestline

pays such termination fee),

Management Agreements - As of December 31, 2004, nire of the Company's 17
hotels operated pursuant to management agreements with Crestline Hotels &
Resorts, Inc,, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Barceld Crestline, each for a
10-year term. Crestline Hotels & Resorts receives a base management fee, and if
the hotels meet and exceed certain thresholds, an incentive management fee. The
base management fee for the hotels is generally between 2% and 3.5% of total
gross revenues from the hotels. The incentive management fee, i any, for each hotel
will be due annually in arrears within 105 days after the end of each fiscal year and
will be equal to 15% of the amount by which operating income for the fiscal year
exceeds 1% of the Company's capitalized investment in the hotel. Crestline Hotels
& Resorts will not be entitled to receive any incentive fee in any fiscal year in which
the operating income of the hotel has not equaled at least 11% of the Company's
investment in the hotel. The management agreements place a cap on the total
amount of combined base and incentive management fees paid to Crestline Hotels

& Resorts at 4.5% of gross revenues for each fiscel year.

For the year ended December 31, 2004 and the period from December 1@ 2003
through December 31, 2003, the Company paid Crestline Hotels & Resorts
approximately $16 million and $0.01 million, respectively, in management fees, For
the period from January 1, 2003 through December 18, 2003 and the year ended
December 31,2002, PHA paid Crestline Hotels & Resorts approximately $0.3

million and $0.3 million, respectively, in management fees.

Transactions with Chairman of the Board of Directors - The Company's chairman
of the board of directors, wha is also Barcel¢ Crestline’s president and chief execu-
tive officer, acquired 300,000 shares of common stock at a price per share equal
to the IPO price, less an amount equal to the underwriting discount of $0.70 per
share, resulting in proceeds of approximately $2.8 million. For the period from
December 19, 2003 through December 31, 2003, the Company recorded com-
pensation expense of approximately $0.2 million equal to the underwriting dis-
count, In addition, the Company used approximately $1.5 million of the net pro-
ceeds of the IPO to repay a loan from the Company's chairman, which had been

used as a deposit related to the acquisition of the Plaza San Antonio Marriott hotel,

Overhead and Cost-sharing Arrangement - Since the Company's inception, it has
had an informal overhead and cost-sharing arrangement with Barcelé Crestline
whereby the Company has shared Barcelé Crestiine's office space and related
turniture, fixtures and equipment and certain support services, including human
resources and information technology functions, in exchange for a monthly reim-
bursement of the estimated value to the Company from this sharing arrangement
For the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company paid Barceld Crestline

approximately $0.3 million under this arrangement.




4. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Ground and Building Leases - The Company leases the Portsmouth Renaissance
hotel and adjcining conference center from the Industrial Development Authority
ot the City of Portsmouth pursuant to two separate lease agreements, each for an
inttial term of 50 years ending May 2049, with four ten-year renewal options and
one nine-year renewal option. Base rent under the hotel lease is $50,000 per
year. Annual percentage rent is equal to 100% of available net cash flow after pay-
ment of all hotel operating expenses, the base rent, real estate and property taxes,
insurance and a cumulative priority annual return to the lessee of approximately $2
million, up to $0.2 million, then 50% of any remaining net cash flow until the land-
lord has been paid percentage (and additional) rent of $10 million in aggregate,
and thereatter 10% of net cash flow annually. f the Company sells or assigns the
hotel lease to an unrelated party, an additional rent payment equal to 50% of the
net sales proceeds in excess of the Company's capital investment in the hotel and

unpaid annual return of 15% on the investment will be due.

Annual rent under the conference center lease is equal to the lesser of $75,000
per year or the maximum amount of rent allowable under tax regulations so as to
preserve the tax-exempt status of the Portsmouth Industrial Development Authority

bonds issued in connection with the hotel and conference center.

The Company leases the conference center and parking facility adjcining the Sugar
Land Marriott hotel from the Sugar Land Town Square Development Authority for
a term of 99 years ending October 2102. The minimum rent is $1 per year, plus an
incentive rent payment for the first 25 years of the term of the lease. If during any of
those first 25 years, the Company’s cumulative internal rate of return on investment
in the hotel exceeds 15%, then the Company will pay incentive rent in an amount
equal to 36% of the net cash flow and/or net sale proceeds for the applicable year
in excess of the amount of net cash flow and/or net sales proceeds that would be

necessary to generate a cumulative internal rate of return of 15%.

Percentage and incentive rent is accrued when it becomes probable that the speci-
fied thresholds will be achieved. No percentage rent was owed, as the thresholds

were not met in any period presented in the financial statements.

Management Agreements - As of December 31, 2004, the Company's hotel
properties operated pursuant to long-term agreements with five management
companies, including Crestline Hotels & Resorts, Inc. (9 hotels), Marriott

International, Inc. (3 hotels), Hyatt Corporation (2 hotels), McKibbon Hotel

Management, Inc. (2 hotels), and Sage Hospitality Resources (1 hotel). Each man-
agement company receives a base management fee generally between 2% and
4% of hotel revenues. The managerment companies are also eligible to receive an
incentive management fee, if hotel operating income, as defined in the manage-
ment agreements, exceeds certain thresholds. The incentive management fee is
generally calculated as a percentage of hotel operating income after the Company

has received a priority return on its investment in the hotel.

Franchise Agreements - As of December 31, 2004, 12 of the Company's 17 hotel
properties operated pursuant to franchise agreements from national hotel companies,
The Company's other five hotel properties, which include the Hyatt Regency
Savannah hotel, the Hyatt Regency Wind Watch Long Island hotel, the Dallas/Fort
Worth Airport Marriott hotel, the Courtyard Boston Tremont hotel, and the
Courtyard Denver Airport hotel, are managed by Hyatt Corporation or Marriott
International, Inc. The management agreements for these five hotel properties zllow
the hotel property to operate under the respective brand. Pursuant to the franchise
agreements, the Company pays a royalty fee, generally between 4% and 5% of
room revenues, plus additional fees for marketing, central reservation systems, and
other franchisor costs that amount to between 3% and 4% of room revenues from

the hotels.

Property Improvement Reserves - Pursuant to its management, franchise and loan
agreements, the Company is required to establish a property improvement reserve
for each hotel to cover the cost of replacing furniture, fixtures and equipment at the
hotels. Contributions to the property improvement reserve are based on a percent-
age of gross revenues or receipts at each hotel. The Company is generally required
to contribute between 3% and 5% of gross revenues each month over the term of

the agreements.

Litigation - The Company is not involved in any material litigation nor, to its knowl-

edge, is any material litigation threatened against the Company.
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15. QUARTERLY OPERATING RESULTS (UNAUDITED)

Highland Hospitality
Quarter Ended - 2004

(in thousands, except per share data) March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
Total revenue $ 18,734 $§ 25254 $ 36,014 $ 53,009
Total operating expenses 18,732 23,028 33,223 47,523
Operating income 2 2,226 2,791 5,486
Net income 800 2,168 569 939
Earnings per share:
Basic 02 05 01 02
Diluted 01 .05 01 02
The Predecessor Highland Hospitality
Period From Period From
Quarter Ended - 2003 October1,2003t0  December19,2003 to
(in thousands, except per share data) March 31 June 30 September 30 December 18,2003 December 31,2003
Total revenue $ 2,039 $ 2,809 $ 2,553 $ 3,155 N 683
Total operating expenses 2373 2,243 2,414 2,750 3,762
Operating income (loss) (334) - 666 138 405 3,079
Net income (loss) (554) 445 (83) 85 (2,673)
Loss per share:
Basic and diluted (07)

16. SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On February 4, 2005, the Cormpany acquired the 196-room Sheraton Annapolis
hotel in Annapalis, Maryland for approximately $18.5 million. The entity selling the

hotel is owned 33.3% by Barcelé Corporacién Empresarial, S A, which is the par-

ent company of Barceld Crestline, which sponsored the Company's formation and

IPO. The Company entered into a long-term agreement with Crestiine Hotels &

Resorts, Inc. to manage the hotel property.
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The following table sets forth selected historical financial data for Highland The selected historical financial data for Highland Hospitality Corporation for the
Hospitality Corporation beginning with its commencement of operations on year ended December 31, 2004 and the period from December 19,2003
December 19, 2003. Prior to December 19, 2003, the table sets forth selected through December 31, 2003, and the selected historical financial data for
historical financial data for Portsmcuth Hotel Associates, LLC, which was acquired Portsmouth Hotel Associates, LLC for the period from January 1, 2003 through
by us concurrent with the completion of our IPO on December 19, 2003, December 18, 2003 and the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000
Portsmouth Hotel Associates, LLC was owned 66.7% by Barceld Crestline, which have been derived from the historical financial statements of Highland Hospitality
was the sponsor of our formation and IPO. Portsmouth Hotel Associates, LLC is Corporation and Portsmouth Hotel Associates, LLC. The following selected histor-
considered the predecessor to Highland Hospitality Corporation for accounting ical financial data should be read in conjunction with "Management's Discussion
purposes. Portsmouth Hotel Associates, LLC, which leases the Portsmouth and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the financial
Renaissance hotel and conference center, commenced operations on January 10, statements and notes thereto, both included elsewhere in this report.

2001. Portsmouth Hotel Associates, LLC activity prior to January 10, 2001 related

to construction and pre-opening efforts.

Highland Hospitality The Predecessor The Predecessor
Highland Hospitality Period From Period From Year Ended December 31,
Year Ended December19,2003to January1,2003t0
(in thousands, except per share data) December 31,2004 December 31,2003 December18,2003 2002 2001 2000

Statement of Operations Data:
Revenues $ 133,011 3 683 $ 10656 $10881 $ 9404 $ -
Hotel operating expenses, excluding

pre-copening expenses and depreciation

and amortization 101,406 760 9,110 9,182 8,521 -

Pre-opening expenses - - - - 142 1,424
Depreciation and amortization 11,564 108 870 879 6786 -
Corporate general and administrative 9,536 2,804 - - - -
Operating income (loss) 10,505 {3,079 876 1,020 65 (1,424)
Interest income 1,206 65 4 17 31 20
Interest expense 8,413 - o987 967 1,065 -
Net income (loss) 4,266 (2,673) (107) 70 (988) (1,404)
Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share 10 (.07) - - - -
Other Financial Data:
Funds from operations” 15,830 (2,565) 563 749 (293) -
EBITDA® 21,967 (2,907) 1,546 1,689 741 -
Net cash provided by (used in):

Operating activities 22,609 568 (89) 880 {630) -

Investing activities 470,617) (137,934) (386) (99) (2,855) -

Financing activities 297,859 362,996 (555) (297) 4,212 -

Highland Hospitality The Predecessor
As of December 31, Asof December 31,

(in thousands) 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Balance Sheet Data:
Cash $ 75,481 $ 225,630 $ 1975 $ 1435 $ 730
Investment in hotel properties, net 578,715 147,562 11,080 11,726 12,004
Total assets 724,641 379,488 13,717 13,845 12,734
Long-term debt 342,854 - 12,040 12,136 0,882
Miriority interest in operating partnership 8,321 8,457 - - -
Total stockholders' equity (deficit) 347,478 355,263 650 780 (207)
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0 Funds from operations, or FFC, is defined as net income (loss), plus real estate related depreciation and amortization. Historical cost accounting for real estate assets implicitly assumes that the value of real estate assets
diminishes predictably over time. Since rea! estate values instead have historically risen or fallen with market conditions, most industry investors have considered presentations of operating results for real estate compa-
nies that use hisiorical cost accounting to be insufficient by themselves. Accordingly, we believe that FFO is a useful financial performance measure for investors and management because it provides another indication
of our performance prior to deduction of real estate related depreciation and amortization. The calculation of FFO may vary from entity to entity, and as such, the presentation of FFO by us may not be comparable to
FFO reported by other REITs. The iollowing is a reconciliation between net income (loss) and FFO (in thousands):

Highland Hospitality

The Predecessor

The Predecessor

Highland Hospitality Period From Period From Year Ended
Year Ended December 19,2003 to January 1,2003 to December 31
December 31,2004 December 31,2003 December18,2003 2002 2001
Net income (loss) $ 4,266 $ (2673 $ (107) $ 70 8 (989
Add: Depreciation and amortization 11,564 108 670 679 676
Funds from operations $ 15,830 $ (2.565) $ 563 $ 749 $ (293

@  EBITDA is defined as net income (loss) before interest, income taxes, depreciation and amortization. We believe it is a useful financial performance measure for investors and management because it provides
an indication of the operating performance of our hotel properties and is not impacted by the capital structure of the REIT. The following is a reconciliation between net income (loss) and EBITDA (in thousands):

Highland Hospitality

The Predecessor

The Predecessor

Hightand Hospitality Period From Period From Year Ended
Year Ended December 19,2003 to January1,2003to December 31
December 31,2004 December 31,2003 December 18,2003 2002 2001
Net income (loss) $ 4,206 $ 2673 $ (107) $ 70 $ (869
Add: Depreciation and amortization 11,664 108 670 679 676
Interest expense 8,413 - Q87 Q87 1,085
Less: Interest income (1,206) 65) (4) (17) {31)
Income tax benefit (1,070 (277) - - -~
EBITDA $ 21,967 $ (2,807) $ 1,546 $ 1,699 $ T4

Neither FFO nor EBITDA represent cash generated from operating activities as determined by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
("GAAP") and neither should be considered as an alternative 1o GAAP net income, as an indication of our financial performance, or to cash flow from operating activities

as determined by GAAP as a measure of liquidity. In addition, FFO and EBITDA are not indicative of funds available to fund cash needs, including the ability to make

cash distributions.
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~ HIGHLAND HOSPITALITY CORPORATION
OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS BOARD OF DIRECTORS
James L. Francis Bruce D. Wardinski
President & Chief Executive Officer Chairman, Highland Hospitality Corporation

President & Chief Executive Cficer, Barceld Crestline Corporation

Douglas W. Vicari
EVP Chief Financial Officer & Treasurer James L. Francis
President & Chief Executive Officer, Highland Hospitality Corporation
Patrick W. Campbell
EVP & Chief Investment Officer Francisco L. Borges ®

President, Chief Executive Officer & Managing Partner, Landmark Partners

Tracy M. J. Colden
EVP General Counsel & Corporate Secretary Thomas A, Natelli *®
President & Chief Executive Officer, Natelli Communities

Terrence P.O'Leary
SVP Asset Management William L. Wilson®®
Principal-in-Charge of Synterra, Ltd./Synterra Partners

Margaret A. Sheehan®@®
Partrer, Alston & Bird LLP

W.Reeder Glass
Partner, Holland & Knight LLP

O Audit Commitiee member
@ Compensation Policy Committee member

@ Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee member
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_ HIGHLAND HOSPITALITY CORPORATION
CORPORATE INFORMATION

TRANSFER AGENT

Wachovia Bank, N.A.

Equity Services

1525 West WI. Harris Blvd.
Charlotte, North Caroling 28228
Phone: (800) 820-8432

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

KPMG LLP
1660 International Drive
Mclean, Virginia 22102

INVESTOR INQUIRIES

If you would like general information on Highland Hospitality Corporation,

please visit our website and click on the fink for Investor Relations.

WEBSITE

Information regarding Highland Hospitality Corporation is available

on our website: www highlandhospitality.com.

FORM 10-K

Stockholders may obtain without charge & copy of the company's Annual
Report on Form 10-K| as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission,

by accessing Investor Relations on the company's website.
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CERTIFICATIONS

Qur President and Chief Executive Officer and Executive Vice President, Chief
Financial Officer and Treasurer have delivered, without qualification, all certifications
required by rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission and relating to,
among other things, the company's financial statements, internal controls and the
public disclosures contained in the company's SEC reports. In addition, our
President and Chief Executive Officer has certified to the New York Stock
Exchange that he is not aware of any violation by the company of the NYSE's

corporate governance listing standards.

MARKET DATA

Shares of Highland Hospitality Corporation common stock are traded on the
New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "HIH".

ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

The Annual Meeting of Stockholders will be held on Thursday, May 19, 2005
at10:00 am, E.ST at the Sheraton Annapolis Hotel, 173 Jennifer Road, Annapolis,
Maryland 21401,

CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS

Highland Hospitality Corporation
8405 Greensboro Drive

Suite 500

Mclean, Virginia 22102
703-336-4301
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ROPERTIES

Hyatt Regency Wind Watch Long Island

1717 Motor Parkway
Hauppauge, New York 11788
Phone: (631) 232-4679
360 Rooms

Hyatt Regency Savannah
Two West Bay Street
Savannah, Georgia 31401
Phone: (912) 23841234

347 Rooms

Hilton Tampa Westshore
2225 North Lois Avenue
Tampa, Florida 33607-2355
Phone: (813) 877-6688
238 Rooms

Courtyard Savannah
Historic District

415 West Liberty St.
Savannah, Georgia 31401
Phone: (912) 790-8287
156 Rooms

Hilton Garden Inn

Virginia Beach Town Center
252 Town Center Drive

Virginia Beach, Virginia 23462
Phone: (757) 326-6200

176 Rooms

Plaza San Antonio Marriott
555 S. Alamo Street

San Antenio, Texas 78205
Phone: (210) 2291000

252 Rooms

10

1

12

Courtyard Boston Tremont
275 Tremont Street

Boston, Massachusetts 02116
Phone: (617) 426-1400

322 Rooms

Portsmouth Renaissance
425 Water Street
Portsmouth, Virginia 23704
Phone: (757) 673-3000
249 Rooms

Residence Inn Tampa Downtown
101 East Tyler Street

Tampa, Florida 33602

Phone: (813) 221-4224

109 Rooms

Sugar Land Marriott

Town Square

16090 City Walk

Sugar Land, Texas 7747G-6539
Phone: (281) 275-8400

300 Rooms

Hilton Parsippany

One Hilton Court

Parsippany, New Jersey 07054
Phone: (973) 2677373

510 Roomns

Crowne Plaza Atlanta-Ravinia
Atlanta-Ravinia (Perimeter Center)
4355 Ashford Dunwoody Road
Atlanta, Georgia 30346

Phone: (770) 395-7700

495 Rooms

NOT PICTURED
ON PAGES 4-5:

13

14

15

16

17

18

Radisson Mount Laurel
315 Route 73

Mt. Laurel, New Jersey 08054
Phone: (856) 234-7300

283 Rooms

Hilton Garden Inn BWI Airport
1516 Aerc Drive

Linthicurn, Maryland 21090

Phone: (410) 691-0500

158 Rooms

Dallas/Fort Worth Airport Marriott
8440 Freeport Parkway

Irving, Texas 75063

Phone: (972) 929-8800

491 Rooms

Omaha Marriott
10220 Regency Circle
Omaha, Nebraska 68114
Phone: (402) 339-9000
299 Rooms

Sheraton Annapolis
173 Jenniter Road
Annapolis, Maryland 21401
Phone: (410) 266-3131
196 Rooms

Courtyard Denver Airport
6901 Tower Road

Denver, Colorado 80249
Phone: (303) 371-0300

202 Rooms



DA
S

@T)\:m\
AN N S

7=
N N

TALITY

)
L

0 A

im
Ly

[

H ‘

AN

- | )
i R

Sllels

[

oro Drive

.
[o%

STEEns!

~
2

Mclean, Virginta 221

www.highlandhespitality.com




